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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good morning. I

          3  am Bill Perkins, Chair of the City Council's

          4  Committee on Governmental Operations. Today the

          5  Committee will be striking a blow for good

          6  government by creating a new opportunity to improve

          7  the efficient allocation of government resources,

          8  which is to say the people's resources. Today, the

          9  Committee will be voting on Intro No. 346- A, which

         10  will be known as the New York City False Claims Act.

         11  This legislation is overdue. It's been changed to

         12  Intro 600. That is for the record. It's been changed

         13  again. Now it's 630 which will be known as the New

         14  York City False Claim Act regardless of the number.

         15  This legislation is overdue.

         16                 As we learned during two prior

         17  hearings, this bill creates civil penalties for

         18  those who would defraud our City government

         19  providing deterrents to the tool of three times the

         20  amount of damages caused by fraudulent claims

         21  against the City. The legislation also creates a so

         22  called "qui tam action in the law." That is a

         23  private right of action, a civil enforcement action

         24  whereby a private citizen anywhere in our community

         25  may sue other private individuals or corporations on
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          2  behalf of their government in situations where they

          3  have knowledge that the City government has been the

          4  victim of fraud.

          5                 Under this bill, private individuals

          6  will be able to fight in court on behalf of their

          7  government with the added incentive that they may

          8  receive a percentage of the money recovered as a

          9  result of their efforts. This bill will not only

         10  protect the City's coffers, it will also allow for

         11  greater cooperation between government and the

         12  citizens that it serves. The federal government has

         13  long employed such an act since the 1800's. Congress

         14  strengthened the False Claims Act in 1986

         15  encouraging whistleblowers to come forward and since

         16  then the federal government and the federal tax

         17  payer has reaped a windfall of billions of dollars

         18  that would not otherwise have been recovered.

         19                 In recent years, several states and

         20  the District of Columbia have followed suit enacting

         21  local false claims act with qui tam provisions.

         22  These other jurisdictions have also recovered

         23  hundreds of millions of dollars as a result. In one

         24  case alone, the State of California uncovered fraud

         25  in the amount of $187 million. Now it is New York
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          2  City's turn. With this bill, this institution will

          3  join those legislatures that have declared war on

          4  unscrupulous claimants who would defraud the public

          5  of its precious fiscal resources. It makes sense to

          6  enlist the private informed individual as a solider

          7  in that battle. I encourage every member of this

          8  Committee and every member of the Council to vote

          9  for the New York City False Claims Act.

         10                 We're happy to say this morning the

         11  Administration is here to speak on the bill and we'd

         12  now like to invite them to come to the witness stand

         13  and testify after being sworn in. Thank you.

         14  Representing the Administration will be Steve Louis

         15  and Andrea Berger, New York City Law Department.

         16  Join us. I want to thank the early birds, Council

         17  Member Michael Nelson, Council Member Joe Addabbo.

         18  We know that others are on their way from across the

         19  street and at this point we will hear from the New

         20  York City Law Department.

         21                 MR. LOUIS: Good morning, Chairman

         22  Perkins and members of the --

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: One second

         24  witnesses, I just need to swear you in.

         25                 MR. LOUIS: I'm sorry.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          3  affirm that the testimony that you are about to give

          4  will be the truth, the whole truth and nothing but

          5  the truth?

          6                 MR. LOUIS: I do.

          7                 MS. BERGER: I do.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please have a

          9  seat. You may proceed.

         10                 MR. LOUIS: Good morning, Chairman

         11  Perkins and members of the Government Operations

         12  Committee. My name is Stephen Louis. I'm the Chief

         13  of the Law Department's Division of Legal Counsel.

         14  With me is Andrea Berger, a Senior Counsel in the

         15  Division. We are here today to express our support

         16  for Intro 630 which would create a False Claims Act

         17  for New York City. Previously, when we appeared

         18  before this Committee in November 2004, we expressed

         19  support for the concept of a False Claims Act as

         20  contained in Intro. 346- A, but had reservations

         21  about the bill as drafted and felt we could not

         22  support the bill that the Council ultimately passed

         23  earlier this year.

         24                 However, over the last several weeks,

         25  we met with the lead sponsor of the bill, Council
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          2  Member David Yassky and his staff as well as staff

          3  of this Committee and the Council, in an effort to

          4  see if we could agree upon a bill that would

          5  effectively achieve the goals that the Council

          6  articulated. As you know, as the Chief Legal Office

          7  of the City, the Law Department is responsible for

          8  seeing that claims on behalf of the City are

          9  meritorious and are litigated in the strongest

         10  possible manner.

         11                 In most respects, this bill is very

         12  similar to Intro 346- A, but includes a number of

         13  critical changes. First, it provides that a

         14  complaint will not go forward if it would be

         15  dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which

         16  relief may be based. By including this standard, we

         17  can ensure that completely meritless cases need not

         18  go forward. Also, the bill eliminates the process by

         19  which Corporation Counsel determinations under the

         20  law could be appealed to the Office of

         21  Administrative Trials and Hearings. In our view,

         22  these decisions are best left to the Corporation

         23  Counsel. The bill now reflects these two concerns.

         24                 With these changes, we believe that

         25  the Law Department working closely with the
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          2  Department of Investigation, will now have a new

          3  tool with which to fight fraud perpetrated against

          4  the City. And we're excited by the prospect of

          5  utilizing this new law. Thank you for the

          6  opportunity to share our thoughts with you today.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much for your testimony. Do you have anything you

          9  want to add? I want to acknowledge the presence of

         10  Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr. Let me just be

         11  clear, would you repeat the distinctions between

         12  what we are agreeing on now and what we couldn't

         13  agree on before. Would you just reiterate that so

         14  that is clear?

         15                 MR. LOUIS: Sure. One issue that

         16  concerned us was that we did not want cases that

         17  were completely meritless, totally without merit, in

         18  which there could be no question to go forward under

         19  this bill. We thought it was a waste of  resources

         20  and courts resources could possibly interfere with

         21  existing contracts. Council Member Yassky and his

         22  staff came up with a solution, a standard that said

         23  basically that the complaint need not go forward if

         24  it would be dismissed for failure to state a claim

         25  upon which relief may be based. And we thought that
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          2  was adequate in terms of meeting our concerns.

          3                 The other issue had to do with

          4  certain decisions by the Corporation Counsel that

          5  would be appealed to oath and we thought to allow

          6  oath to essentially overrule the Corporation Counsel

          7  on some of these decisions basically was not

          8  appropriate and again that appeal process has been

          9  removed from the bill.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So there really

         11  is no appeal process now?

         12                 MR. LOUIS: Well, not in an internal

         13  administrative appeal process.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What is the

         15  external appeal process?

         16                 MR. LOUIS: I suppose one could if one

         17  felt that the Corporation Counsel was abusing his

         18  authority, there is the possibility of an Article 78

         19  proceeding.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Very good. If

         21  there are no other questions, thank you very much

         22  for your testimony. We will be voting on this matter

         23  shortly. Of course, I will be recommending that the

         24  Committee vote in support of the latest version of

         25  the bill that we seem to have come into agreement
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          2  with, with the Administration.

          3                 At this point, we will move now to

          4  the rest of the hearing and today we will be

          5  discussing a bundle of different measures. Some

          6  Intro's and some Resolutions, each of which is

          7  designed to advocate, advance and secure the right

          8  to vote for the disenfranchised. Intro No. 1 is a

          9  bill that would amend New York's City Pro- Voter Law

         10  to improve agency assistant voter registration.

         11  Intro 496 is geared towards streamlining the Voter

         12  Assistance Commission so that it may better serve

         13  the residents of New York City. Intro 560 is aimed

         14  at helping voters to confirm whether their paper or

         15  affidavit ballots has been tallied and if not, why

         16  not.

         17                 Reso No. 19 calls upon the

         18  Legislature in Albany to amend the Election Law to

         19  recognize the right of parolees to vote. Reso 45

         20  calls on the legislature to amend the election law

         21  so that "domestic partners" who must accompany their

         22  spouses out of the country may cast absentee

         23  ballots. And Reso No. 859 calls upon the United

         24  States Congress to pass the Civic Participation Act

         25  of 2005, a bill that is contained within omnibus
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          2  package called the Count Every Vote Act of 2005. A

          3  package which incidentally was introduced in the

          4  Senate by our very own, Senator Hillary Rodham

          5  Clinton. Each of the measures under consideration

          6  here today is important because each is designed to

          7  address the electoral needs of the disenfranchised.

          8                 We have an idea in this country, "an

          9  idea that is central to every truly democratic

         10  philosophy and that idea is that no legitimate

         11  government may derive its power from any other

         12  source than the consent of the government." These

         13  measures before us today are geared towards making

         14  this idea into a reality, toward making sure that

         15  all of the governed have a fair and reasonable

         16  opportunity to voice their consent. As such these

         17  intros and resolutions are more than just good

         18  government measures. What they really speak to is

         19  the very foundations of our government and our way

         20  of life. Therefore, I believe these measures are

         21  important. I believe they merit our full attention

         22  and I want to turn to them now.

         23                 I want to at this point call on

         24  representatives of the Administration to please come

         25  forward and speak on these matters, these
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          2  resolutions, these bills as they see fit. As you're

          3  getting ready, let me just acknowledge Sandy Dillon,

          4  the Policy Analyst for the Committee and Danny

          5  Serrano, Counsel to the Committee as we swear in our

          6  first witness.

          7                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Mr.

          8  Crowell, do you swear or affirm the testimony you

          9  are about to give will be the truth, the whole truth

         10  and nothing but the truth?

         11                 MR. CROWELL: I do. I just wanted to

         12  clarify that I'm only going to be speaking on Intro

         13  1 as that was what our Legislative Affairs Office

         14  and the Counsel Staff had discussed that I would be

         15  testifying on. Good morning, Mr. Chair and Members

         16  of the Committee. My name is Anthony Crowell and I

         17  am Special Counsel to Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg. I

         18  also represent the Mayor's Office on the New York

         19  City Voter Assistance Commission and work closely

         20  with the Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs. As a

         21  general matter, on behalf of the Mayor, I would like

         22  to thank the Committee for permitting me to appear

         23  before you today and for continuing your review of

         24  options to expand voting opportunities for all

         25  eligible New Yorkers.
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          2                 I am here to offer the

          3  Administration's position concerning proposed

          4  amendments to Local Law 29 of 2000. As you are

          5  aware, I have testified as to these proposed

          6  amendments before. At a hearing on November 23,

          7  2003, I testified as to the Administration's

          8  concerns about Intro 608, the predecessor to Intro

          9  1. Similar concerns were expressed about Intro 1 by

         10  Dr. Jeffrey Kraus, Chairman of the City's Voter

         11  Assistance Commission, at a hearing held on November

         12  30, 2004. Because our concerns have thus been

         13  articulated on at least two earlier occasions, I

         14  will attempt to be somewhat more concise today.

         15  Nevertheless, I must emphasize that we continue to

         16  have serious concerns that Intro 1 does not address.

         17                 The City currently operates under the

         18  program established by Local Law 29. Pursuant to

         19  that program, many City agencies already provide

         20  voter registration services in addition to their

         21  primary services. The Local Law 29 program is the

         22  result of negotiations between the Council and the

         23  previous Administration, and reflects an agreement

         24  between the Mayoralty and the Council as to the

         25  resources that could appropriately be provided to
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          2  voter registration by agencies consistent with their

          3  primary missions under law.

          4                 First I'd like to address the Program

          5  and Budgetary Impacts. Intro 1 would change the

          6  current program to require employees generally to

          7  provide an applicant with verbal assistance in

          8  completing the voter registration form when an

          9  initial or renewed application for services or

         10  assistance is made; at the same time as the new

         11  verbal assistance requirement is imposed, the

         12  current provision restricting the registration

         13  program to written applications would be removed.

         14                 Forms would also have to be collected

         15  and transmitted to the City Board of Elections.

         16  Depending on the client's language skills or

         17  comprehension of the forms, providing assistance

         18  that reaches the level mandated by this bill could

         19  take valuable time away from providing essential

         20  agency services. The resulting decline in

         21  productivity could reduce the current level of

         22  services provided and would likely necessitate

         23  hiring additional staff.

         24                 Furthermore, as the bill mandates,

         25  thousands of employees would need to be trained in
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          2  the manner of verbal assistance to be provided. Even

          3  with training, the accurate provision of information

          4  by so many employees whose own experience lies in

          5  other areas could not be guaranteed. Further, the

          6  bill would impose additional costs and procedures

          7  upon agency contractors, and could require the

          8  immediate production of thousands of new

          9  applications for agency services. In addition to

         10  being inefficient, the many additional procedures

         11  this bill seeks to impose are also expensive. The

         12  City already spends millions of dollars a year on

         13  voter registration and how the City would fund this

         14  additional mandate is far from clear.

         15                 I'd now like to address Verbal

         16  Assistance and the Collection and Transmittal of

         17  Forms. As this Committee acknowledged on April 10,

         18  2003, an individual wishing to register to vote must

         19  disclose his or her immigration status in order to

         20  submit a complete voter registration form. Under the

         21  current system, an individual who requests a written

         22  application for City services receives a voter

         23  registration form; no City employee every asks that

         24  individual about immigration status in connection

         25  with the receipt of the form, but the form itself
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          2  reminds the individual that he or she must be a

          3  citizen in order to vote. Further, no individual is

          4  ever forced to choose between the serious

          5  consequence of filling out a voter registration form

          6  when he or she is not a citizen and the specter of

          7  raising questions at the agency as to why he or she

          8  may have refused assistance or declined to complete

          9  and submit the registration form.

         10                 As I have previously testified, any

         11  mandatory program of verbal assistance relating to

         12  voter registration forms under Intro 1 would be

         13  predicated on a threshold inquiry about an

         14  applicant's immigration status by a City employee,

         15  even when such information is not central to the

         16  services provided by that agency. This would be in

         17  direct contravention of the City- wide Privacy

         18  Policy found in Executive Order 41 signed by Mayor

         19  Bloomberg. EO 41 generally prohibits City employees

         20  from inquiring about a person's immigration status,

         21  unless it is required by law or necessary to

         22  determine eligibility and from disclosing

         23  confidential information, including immigration

         24  status, in City records. If Intro 1 were

         25  implemented, it would have a chilling effect on the
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          2  City's ability to provide essential services to

          3  immigrant communities; something that I know neither

          4  the Administration nor Council wants to see happen.

          5                 I'd like to address the extension of

          6  Local Law 29 to NYCHA and HRA. Intro 1 also extends

          7  the voter registration scheme of Local Law 29 to the

          8  New York City Housing Authority and the Human

          9  Resources Administration. The Administration

         10  continues to have doubts about the Council's legal

         11  authority to place Pro- Voter Law mandates on NYCHA.

         12  Further, as I have testified before, NYCHA shares

         13  other agencies concerns regarding this bill, and

         14  notes that voter registration applications are

         15  currently available at current NYCHA locations. With

         16  respect to HRA, I again note that HRA, by virtue of

         17  its status as the City's primary social services

         18  agency, is already subject to the provisions of the

         19  National Voter Registration Act. That's known as

         20  NVRA. NVRA requires distribution of voter

         21  registration forms to those who apply for federal

         22  welfare benefits.

         23                 I'd now like to address the Voter

         24  Assistant Commission and other legal concerns. As I

         25  have testified at the previous hearing, Intro 1
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          2  would provide a mandatory training and rule making

          3  role to the Voter Assistance Commission. VAC was

          4  designed to be a coordinating mechanism in relation

          5  to the activities of City agencies and was not

          6  empowered to impose voter registration mandates upon

          7  them. Therefore, the enhanced role provided to VAC

          8  by this bill would likely trigger a referendum.

          9  Further, the mandatory diversion of agency resources

         10  above and beyond what agencies may reasonably

         11  determine can be provided would not only cast aside

         12  the arrangement that was negotiated in good faith in

         13  2000, but would also raise additional questions of

         14  whether a referendum would be required in order to

         15  infringe upon the Charter conferred power of

         16  agencies to determine the resources that may be

         17  provided for voter registration.

         18                 In closing, I reiterate the

         19  Administration's wholehearted support of the

         20  continued expansion of voter registration

         21  opportunities in New York City. Although the

         22  Administration continues to believe that Intro 1

         23  does not represent an acceptable approach to

         24  increasing voter registration, we are certainly open

         25  to dialogue about other means of achieving this end.
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          2  Accordingly, if there are particular aspects of the

          3  Local Law 29 program that we can improve through

          4  targeted and effective changes in implementation, we

          5  would welcome discussions with the Council. Thank

          6  you and I would be happy to answer any questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much for your testimony. You mentioned in your

          9  testimony concerns related to the budgetary impact

         10  of this legislation. Have you done any sort of

         11  analysis? Do you have a figure that comes to mind

         12  when you say you will have a budgetary impact and by

         13  the same token, have you done any sort of analysis

         14  of how much time it would take that would take away

         15  from other activities that you claim would be the

         16  result of the implementation of this legislation?

         17                 MR. CROWELL: There hasn't been an

         18  analysis to my knowledge. However, it's a logical

         19  conclusion that if any person came in to make

         20  applications for services or renewal application

         21  that they need to be asked whether they want to fill

         22  out a card that would obviously divert resources and

         23  divert potential time away from the line workers who

         24  actually would handle those applications for the

         25  actual services and not for voter registration.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's clear that

          3  there would be some time taken. But the suggestion

          4  that you're making is that it would be such an

          5  enormous amount of time. I was wondering having made

          6  such an allegation if you had any opportunity to

          7  some how whether quantity that or give not rationale

          8  but rather assign a study of some sort that would

          9  reflect that.

         10                 MR. CROWELL: No, but I'm sure the

         11  Office of Management and Budget could certainly do

         12  that. I know that not only just the time taken to

         13  train -- I mean there is training issues also that

         14  need to be undertaken as well as the diversion of

         15  time of the line workers. Obviously, there's two --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Isn't it usual

         17  that any new procedure would entail some training?

         18  It's not unusual for there to be training when you

         19  come up with a new process whether it's this or

         20  anything else?

         21                 MR. CROWELL: No, it's not unusual

         22  that there would need to be training. Obviously

         23  there is labor issues and any change in procedure.

         24  This is something that would take place now. The

         25  difference is that these forms are already being
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          2  given out at the covered agencies as attachments to

          3  the applications. But now this is another step where

          4  you actually making every single City agency that is

          5  covered also a voter registration agency.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I guess the

          7  thrust of this is to try to make sure that above and

          8  beyond just attaching that there is registration

          9  actually taking place to obvious empower folks to be

         10  able to have the opportunity to vote. This is more

         11  of a proactive approach as opposed to simply

         12  attaching.

         13                 MR. CROWELL: I actually think that

         14  the Local Law 29 program as it is, is pretty

         15  proactive. I think by actually placing a voter

         16  registration card at the covered agencies of

         17  everybody who comes in for City services is very

         18  proactive. It also extends to contractors of City

         19  agencies that are covered by Local Law 29. The next

         20  step is that you want the verbal assistance which

         21  for all the reasons I identified and most

         22  importantly the Executive Order 41 implications of

         23  requiring line workers to ask basically every

         24  individual who comes in for City services their

         25  immigration status raises serious concerns; serious
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          2  legal and practical concerns about how City agencies

          3  and City government employees interface with the

          4  public and also about diverting resources from the

          5  critical delivery of services rather than really

          6  constricting every agency into a highly enhanced

          7  voter registration role.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: How does this

          9  involve knowing their immigration status?

         10                 MR. CROWELL: I believe that it's the

         11  either the first or second question on any voter

         12  registration card asks the simple question, are you

         13  an United States citizen.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Right.

         15                 MR. CROWELL: In order to register to

         16  be a voter, you have to be a United States citizen.

         17  That is one of the top criteria for voter

         18  eligibility, U.S. Citizenship.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Does that

         20  question lead one to determine whether or not you

         21  are legal or illegal?

         22                 MR. CROWELL: But by its terms, the

         23  Executive Order that Mayor Bloomberg signed,

         24  Executive Order 41, which I know you were involved

         25  in negotiations and discussions on that order as was
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          2  I, the issue is that people who come in for City

          3  services are not to be asked what their immigration

          4  status is. Are you a U.S. Citizen? There couldn't be

          5  a more clear question of one's immigration status

          6  than are you a U.S. Citizen.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I think we have

          8  a difference of opinion about the question of

          9  immigration status. We're not asking people if their

         10  legal or illegal or at what level is their status of

         11  immigration.

         12                 MR. CROWELL: Well, sure you're asking

         13  them --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: When you ask

         15  them if they're a citizen doesn't ask them

         16  necessarily if they are illegal.

         17                 MR. CROWELL: I don't think that's the

         18  issue with Executive Order 41. I think any question

         19  about someone's status whether you are a lawful

         20  permanent resident, whether you are here on a visa,

         21  whether you are here illegally. I think the issue is

         22  the question about immigration status or

         23  nonimmigration status being a citizen. The question

         24  is that's a real slippery slope. Do you want to

         25  start having people who may be illegal coming in to
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          2  complain at HPD that their landlords aren't

          3  providing heat only to be told, well are you a U.S.

          4  Citizen or not. All of sudden, that's part of making

          5  a complaint. That could have a real chilling effect.

          6  Or when people talk to one another, if you go into

          7  an agency, you'll be asked that question. For

          8  instance, if I didn't want the government to know

          9  that I was illegal, I may not be going into that

         10  agency because I don't want to be asked that

         11  question.

         12                 The other issue is that if someone

         13  when asked a question on the voter registration form

         14  decides to misrepresent their status and say that

         15  they are a citizen, that actually is subject to

         16  federal action if they have lied on a voter

         17  registration form and actually could ultimately

         18  result in deportation. Another thing, the City

         19  government does not want to be involved in terms of

         20  putting cards into people's hands and helping them

         21  fill out forms in terms of something that could be

         22  subject to a federal action.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I think that is

         24  not a matter unique to whether one is an immigrant

         25  or not. It is something that applies to everyone
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          2  that registers to vote. If you lie, then you are --

          3                 MR. CROWELL: Well, it's a citizenship

          4  question that --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Not necessarily

          6  a citizenship question that you can lie on your

          7  registration. You can lie about your address. You

          8  can lie about your name.

          9                 MR. CROWELL: Right. But I'm not going

         10  to be deported. As a United States citizen, I won't

         11  be deported if I lie on that. If I say my address is

         12  120 Main Street versus 150 Main Street or something.

         13  The idea is that because you are having a government

         14  worker interface with someone who potentially could

         15  be illegal or someone who is a noncitizen and have

         16  them perhaps unwittingly force them to misrepresent

         17  their status for fear of repercussions, it is

         18  something I know the Administration is very

         19  concerned about.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We all are

         21  concerned about that. But it just seems as if you

         22  are making your decision on a very, very minuscule

         23  amount of possibilities that would take place. The

         24  99 percent of those who apply if not even a greater

         25  percentage or not immigrants or not illegal. These
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          2  are basically citizens who are trying to register to

          3  vote. We're trying to help those who may not be

          4  registered to vote have the opportunity to vote. It

          5  seems as if your decision is based on very, very

          6  minor amount of potential --

          7                 MR. CROWELL: No, our decision is

          8  really based on an enormous amount of public

          9  discourse on the issue of asking immigration status

         10  dating back to 2002 and 2003 which you were present

         11  at and I was as well. It was an enormous amount of

         12  discourse and it was decided there would be an

         13  Executive Order issue saying that people who come in

         14  for City services would not be asked their

         15  immigration status unless the provision of benefits

         16  or services was required by law to ask that

         17  question. For instance, welfare benefits. People

         18  don't go into HR; HR is not a good example. But

         19  people don't go into HPD or people don't go into

         20  other agencies and say well, even though I want to

         21  make sure my landlord gives me heat, I want to

         22  register to vote that day.

         23                 The idea is that we're giving them a

         24  voter registration card that gives them that

         25  opportunity, but they also have the opportunity to
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          2  proactively on their own go to the Board of

          3  Elections or go to the Voter Assistance Commission.

          4  The idea is not to provide opportunities for local

          5  government workers to have discourse with citizens

          6  who come in for matters wholly unrelated to voter

          7  registration and then to have a discussion about

          8  whether they are a U.S. Citizen or not.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I think that the

         10  issue is about citizenship status and about voter

         11  eligibility. I don't think this is designed or that

         12  the intention that you say is there for workers to

         13  begin to investigate people's immigration status

         14  whether they are legal or illegal.

         15                 MR. CROWELL: I don't think that is

         16  your intention to do that. I think that is what

         17  happens as a result of the verbal assistance. I

         18  think we're on the same page that we're in agreement

         19  that we want to give these forms out to everyone who

         20  comes in. It's going to be attached. It's going to

         21  be on counters. That's fine to put them in the hands

         22  of someone who can determine whether to fill it out,

         23  to say they have already filled it out at some other

         24  point, or to throw it away in their own private

         25  manner without having the dialogue as to whether
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          2  someone is or is not a U.S. Citizen.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just

          4  acknowledge the presence of two more members of the

          5  Committee; Councilwoman Christine Quinn and

          6  Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano. Good morning and

          7  thank you for being here. I noticed there is

          8  Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz. Are there any questions

          9  from the members on this matter for the

         10  Administration? Thank you so much for your

         11  attendance and the conversation. What I'd like to do

         12  is step back a moment and since we have a quorum and

         13  vote on our Intro 630. We have apparently an

         14  agreement with the Administration on this bill and

         15  want to encourage the members to vote in support of

         16  this vote. Call the roll please.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         18  Perkins.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I vote aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Nelson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: May I be

          4  excused just to make a brief comment or have a

          5  question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Council

          8  Member Perkins, I had asked to have my name on the

          9  bill and I see it's not here. Is it possible to --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, it will be

         11  taken care of.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Oh, great.

         13  I vote aye.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And anyone else

         15  that's interested.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote in the seven

         23  in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         24  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         25  please sign the Committee Report.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The vote will

          3  remain open for those members who indicated that

          4  they would be late. That includes Council Member

          5  Reed as well as others. And if there is any member

          6  that wants his or her name placed on the bill,

          7  please let it be known. Next we will hear from

          8  another panel, advocacy group representing DEMOS,

          9  Steve Carbo, Director, Dick Datty, Executive

         10  Director, Tony Simone, Policy and Field; and Wendy

         11  Weiser, Associate Counsel, Brennan Center. Please

         12  have a seat and you'll be sworn in. Whatever

         13  testimony you have, please give it to the Sergeant

         14  of Arms. They will take care of it. Don't hand it

         15  out yourself. It's illegal. I don't want anyone

         16  getting arrested here. And also joining this panel

         17  will be Neil Rosenstein from NYPIRG and Amy Ngai

         18  from Citizens Union. Swear them in please.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do the

         20  witnesses swear or affirm that the testimony you are

         21  about to give will be the truth, the whole truth and

         22  nothing but the truth?

         23                 MR. CARBO: I do.

         24                 MR. DATTY: I do.

         25                 MR. SIMONE: I do.
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          2                 MS. WEISER: I do.

          3                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: I do.

          4                 MS. NGAI: I do.

          5                 MR. CARBO: Good morning Chairman

          6  Perkins and Members of the Committee on Government

          7  Operations. My name is Steven Carbo. I serve as

          8  Director of the Democracy Program at Demos, a

          9  national public policy organization based here in

         10  New York City that supports reforms that will lower

         11  or eliminate barriers to political participation.

         12                 I'm very pleased to testify in strong

         13  support today of Intro No. 1, Intro No. 560 and

         14  Resolution No. 859. Demos commends Chairman Perkins

         15  and Committee Counsel Serrano for your hard work on

         16  these important pieces of legislation and offers

         17  special recognition to Speaker Miller, the original

         18  sponsor of the Pro- Voter Law in 2000 and prime

         19  sponsor of Intro No. 1 amendments that are before

         20  the Committee today. I urge the Committee to

         21  expeditiously vote each of these three bills out of

         22  Committee and send them to the full Council for

         23  adoption. Your leadership in making voting easier

         24  and more accessible to the citizens of New York is

         25  sorely needed.
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          2                 In 2002 and 2004, Florida and Ohio

          3  became poster children in the public's mind for a

          4  seriously flawed system of elections. What the

          5  national media and most Americans didn't recognize

          6  is that Florida and Ohio had nothing on New York.

          7  More voters here are caught up in a confusing

          8  election system, left off the rolls, and given

          9  inaccurate information or have their votes

         10  discounted than in most other states. I fully

         11  appreciate the enormous challenges that New York

         12  City and the State Board of Elections confront in

         13  every election. But we simply must do better.

         14                 Last November, New York City

         15  performed worst than most every state in the nation

         16  and a key indicator of a flawed election system; the

         17  percentage of voters who had to cast affidavit or

         18  provisional ballots. Voters are given these ballots

         19  because they encountered problems at the polls. On

         20  November 2, 150,000 voters in New York City were

         21  forced to vote by affidavit ballots; over six

         22  percent of all voters. That rate is worse than that

         23  of at least 47 states. The national average was less

         24  than two percent; less than one third of the New

         25  York City rate.
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          2                 What happened with the affidavit

          3  ballots in New York City? Again, New York City

          4  voters fared poorly relative to their counterparts

          5  elsewhere. Where as two- thirds of all provisional

          6  ballots cast across the county last November were

          7  subsequently credited, only 28 percent of affidavit

          8  ballots cast in New York City were actually counted.

          9  Over 100,000 City residents were effectively

         10  disfranchised on November 2 because we could not

         11  create an efficient process for getting eligible

         12  citizens properly registered and then voting at the

         13  correct location and for the proper administration

         14  of elections.

         15                 Another measure of the quality of our

         16  election system is voter experience with the new

         17  federal voter identification requirements. The

         18  available evidence suggest that the new mandate was

         19  broadly misapplied by poll workers throughout the

         20  City on November 2. Many voters were routinely asked

         21  for identification even though they had voted in

         22  several previous elections. Elections in New York

         23  are riddled with problems. Intro No. 1, Intro No.

         24  560 and Resolution 859 address many of these. Demos

         25  is pleased to offer strong support for each of them.
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          2                 New York State so called Motor Voter

          3  law established mail in voter registration and

          4  required motor vehicle departments, social service

          5  and disability agencies, SUNY and CUNY and other

          6  institutions to offer voter registration services.

          7  The City's Pro- Voter Law designated additional City

          8  agencies and community boards as voter registration

          9  agencies. Unfortunately, City agencies have not been

         10  adequately offering voter registration services as

         11  required by the Pro- Voter Law. This widespread non

         12  compliance comes as no surprise.

         13                 Demos' National Voter Registration

         14  Act Implementation Project has found that states

         15  have either completely neglected to offer voter

         16  registration services at public assistance agencies,

         17  as required under the federal law or are offering

         18  inadequate voter registration services. The

         19  amendments before you today address all of these

         20  short comings. The original Pro- Voter legislation

         21  called on VAC to distribute voluntary, advisory

         22  agency guidelines on voter registration services. It

         23  also delegated to VAC discretion to establish

         24  training programs for employees of participating

         25  agencies.
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          2                 Under the amendments proposed in

          3  Intro No. 1 today, the guidelines established by VAC

          4  would no longer be advisory; agencies would be

          5  required to consider them in the promulgation of

          6  their rules and regulations. Most importantly, Intro

          7  No. 1 would direct the Voters Assistance Commission

          8  to establish a mandatory annual training program for

          9  participating agencies. Requiring annual trainings

         10  for agency employees on voter registration services

         11  will greatly improve implementation of the Pro-

         12  Voter Law.

         13                 We strongly encourage you to urge the

         14  Voters Assistance Commission to work with advocates

         15  to develop these trainings. We at Demos have worked

         16  with public assistance agencies around the country

         17  on implementing effective and comprehensive voter

         18  registration services. We could be particularly

         19  helpful. These amendments also require that an

         20  individual within each agency be designated as

         21  responsible for complying with the Pro- Voter Law

         22  and require staff to offer clients assistance, if

         23  requested, in completing the voter registration

         24  applications. This last change will help prevent

         25  applications from being rejected due to careless
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          2  mistakes or incomplete information.

          3                 Another important amendment is the

          4  addition of HRA as a voter registration agency. The

          5  importance of including HRA cannot be stressed

          6  enough. Congress enacted public assistance agencies

          7  and the NVRA because low- income individuals are

          8  less likely to have drivers licenses and would

          9  therefore be under represented in a system that

         10  focus exclusively on motor vehicle departments.

         11  Unfortunately, the data shows that public assistance

         12  agencies have not been successfully implementing the

         13  NVRA.

         14                 Including HRA in Pro- Voter will

         15  greatly improve the agency's voter registration

         16  services, especially with the inclusion of these

         17  amendments which implement crucial supporting

         18  practices. I will just add in response, I think to

         19  the Mayor's concern expressed by the Mayor's

         20  representative about an individual's immigration

         21  status being disclosed that, that can easily be

         22  overcome. Instead of asking an individual if they

         23  are a citizen or not, the worker could just tell

         24  what the applicant what the requirements are for

         25  voter registration and then simply ask, would they
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          2  like to register.

          3                 It would be clear if you are telling

          4  an applicant that you have to be a citizen. You have

          5  to be 18 years or older. You have to meet whatever

          6  residents requirements are required. And then you

          7  ask the person whether they would like to register.

          8  They will clearly know, if I am not a citizen, I am

          9  not eligible. And I will decline the opportunity to

         10  register. You need not ever actually discuss

         11  citizenship status.

         12                 On Intro 560, I'd like to say this

         13  bill will move New York City beyond the provisional

         14  voting requirements of federal law and should be

         15  adopted as well. It would require that the City

         16  Board of Elections affirmatively notify each

         17  affidavit voter whether or not her vote was

         18  eventually tallied. The Board would have to provide

         19  an explanation for any vote that was not counted.

         20  New York City rates very poorly as compared to the

         21  rest of the nation in the number of voters who must

         22  vote by affidavit ballot and the number of those

         23  ballots that are actually counted. The City Board of

         24  Elections must make very determined steps to improve

         25  our abysmal showing.
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          2                 Intro 560 would lead the Board in the

          3  right direction by at least requiring that many

          4  voters be informed that their attempt to exercise

          5  their constitutional right to vote had failed.

          6  Doubtless many of the 108,000 City residents who

          7  voted by affidavits ballots last November have no

          8  idea that their votes were discounted. They are owed

          9  an explanation.

         10                 Finally, Demos offers enthusiastic

         11  support for Resolution 859, calling on Congress to

         12  pass the Count Every Vote Act of 2005, introduced by

         13  U.S. Senator Hilary Clinton and U.S. Representative

         14  Stephanie Tubbs Jones. Demos endorsed the

         15  legislation when it was introduced in Washington, DC

         16  earlier this year. The Count Every Vote Act is a

         17  veritable wish list of federal election reforms. Its

         18  provisions address most every problem that currently

         19  plagues New York City elections. They include:

         20  Expanded eligibility for affidavit ballots; training

         21  of election officials; election day registration,

         22  which I should shall say boost overall voting in New

         23  York State by 8.6 percent and lead to double- digit

         24  increases among several classes of voters which

         25  include 18 to 25 year old; newly naturalized
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          2  citizens; Latinos and those who have recently moved.

          3                 Finally, voter identification. The

          4  law would get over our problem now with an

          5  inappropriate asking of photo identification by

          6  allowing a voter to meet the ID requirements through

          7  an execution of a written affidavit attesting to

          8  that person's identity. In summary, these three

          9  bills go directly to the heart of some of the

         10  problems that I referenced and some of the problems

         11  we have witnessed for years with City elections. I

         12  strongly urge the Committee to vote them out. Thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Who's next?

         15                 MS. WEISER: I guess I'll go. Good

         16  morning, Mr. Chair. Good morning, Council Members

         17  and thank you for the opportunity to testify in

         18  support of this important package of bills and

         19  resolutions. My name is Wendy Weiser and I'm an

         20  attorney at the Brennan Center for Justice at NYU

         21  Law School. The Brennan Center's Democracy Program

         22  works on research, litigation, and advocacy

         23  initiatives to expand voter participation and

         24  eliminating barriers to full and equal political

         25  participation, especially for people of color and
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          2  low- income citizens. My testimony today is informed

          3  by two such projects. First, the Center works to

          4  ensure that states, including New York, implement

          5  the Help America Vote Act in a manner that protects

          6  voters' rights. Second, the Center advocates to

          7  restore voting rights and to remove registration

          8  barriers for people with felony convictions.

          9                 We commend the Speaker, the Chair and

         10  the Committee for introducing and supporting

         11  legislation and resolutions to strengthen the Pro-

         12  Voter Law and to enhance the franchise for New

         13  Yorkers. Although, the Brennan Center supports all

         14  of the bills and resolutions being considered today,

         15  I am going to focus my remarks on Resolution 19 and

         16  on Intro 560. With respect to Intro 1, we concur

         17  with the remarks by Mr. Carbo and as well as the

         18  remarks you will hear by Ms. Erika Wood from the

         19  Legal Action Center and we would be happy to offer

         20  our assistance in preparing materials for or

         21  otherwise participating in the trainings that the

         22  Intro would require.

         23                 Voting is both a fundamental right

         24  and a civic duty. Restoring the right to vote

         25  strengthens our democracy by increasing voter
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          2  participation and exercising the right to vote helps

          3  people who have completed their incarceration

          4  reintegrate into society. For these and other

          5  reasons, the Brennan Center urges the City Council

          6  to pass Resolution 19 in support of a State law to

          7  re- enfranchise parolees.

          8                 As you know, under New York law,

          9  people who are convicted of felonies lose their

         10  right to vote while they are incarcerated and while

         11  they are on parole. As of 2000, which is the most

         12  recent year for which we have data, New York

         13  disenfranchised more than 130,000 people under these

         14  laws, of which about 58,000 were parolees. Felony

         15  disenfranchisement has a disproportionate impact on

         16  minority communities. The disenfranchisement rate

         17  among African Americans in New York is three and a

         18  half times the rate for the general population. And

         19  Latinos are also disenfranchised at higher rates

         20  than their population rate.

         21                 People on parole have been deemed by

         22  courts and corrections officials to be safe to

         23  rejoin and live in their communities. They have many

         24  of the same rights and responsibilities as other

         25  citizens. They can marry or divorce, write letters
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          2  to the editor, go to church, and participate in

          3  their children's PTA organizations. They work and

          4  pay taxes. It is in the community's interest to

          5  encourage these activities, because positive

          6  connections with the community prevent crime. A

          7  recent study found that formerly incarcerated people

          8  who vote were half as likely as those who do not

          9  vote to end up back in prison. State laws that

         10  disfranchise our neighbors not only harm them but

         11  also leech political power from some of the

         12  communities that most need to be heard.

         13                 Also, a rule that all non-

         14  incarcerated people can vote has the virtue of

         15  administrative simplicity. A 2003 Brennan Center

         16  survey found that more than half of the counties in

         17  the State, including all of New York City, refused

         18  to register individuals with past felony convictions

         19  unless they provided various documents that were

         20  either impossible or very difficult to obtain. While

         21  the State Board of Elections has since issued a

         22  directive to try to correct this problem, there

         23  remains enormous confusion about the voting rights

         24  of people with criminal records.

         25                 Much of this confusion would be
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          2  dispelled if officials were permitted to register

          3  any citizen who appeared in person, and who

          4  therefore was by definition, not in prison. This

          5  would go a long way towards eliminating the errors

          6  and misinformation that disenfranchise people, even

          7  when they are legally entitled to vote. On behalf of

          8  the City and its neighborhoods, the Council should

          9  take a stand in favor of restoring the fundamental

         10  right to vote for people on parole.

         11                 The Brennan Center also urges the

         12  Council to pass Intro 560, which would require the

         13  Board of Elections to provide written notification

         14  to voters who cast affidavit or paper ballots as to

         15  whether their votes were counted and if they were

         16  not, to explain the reason. This provision is an

         17  appropriate supplement to HAVA's requirement that

         18  each state establish a free access system, such as a

         19  toll- free number, for voters who cast provisional

         20  ballots or affidavit ballots to determine whether

         21  their votes were tallied. Since many voters are

         22  unaware of or have trouble accessing such systems,

         23  the written notification requirement will better

         24  ensure that all voters are informed of what happened

         25  to their votes. This will not only enable voters to
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          2  better monitor and protect their own voting rights,

          3  but it will also breed more confidence in the City's

          4  Administration of Elections.

          5                 One minor clarification that we urge

          6  the Council to consider including in this

          7  legislation is a provision making clear that the

          8  requirements of Intro 560 are intended to

          9  supplement, and not supplant HAVA's requirement of a

         10  toll- free access system. Information about the

         11  status of an affidavit or other paper ballot might

         12  be available through the toll- free system more

         13  quickly than the time period provided for in Intro

         14  560 and voters who seek information about the status

         15  of their ballots should have access to that

         16  information as soon as it is available. Also, voters

         17  who move or who don't have stable addresses may not

         18  receive the written notifications. So this should

         19  only be a supplement.

         20                 Although this may beyond the current

         21  scope of Intro 560, we also urge the Council to

         22  introduce a provision requiring the City Board of

         23  Elections to count affidavit ballots cast in the

         24  wrong polling place, unless there is affirmative

         25  evidence (such as a signed notation on the affidavit
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          2  ballot envelope), that the voter was notified of the

          3  consequences of casting an affidavit ballot in the

          4  wrong polling place, that the voter was directed to

          5  the correct polling place, and that the voter could

          6  have voted at that polling place without undue

          7  hardship.

          8                 This would entail a change in the

          9  City's current election practices, since the local

         10  board currently counts affidavit ballots only if

         11  they are cast in the right polling place, regardless

         12  of the underlying circumstances. But for a number of

         13  reasons, the current practice is unfair and

         14  misleading to voters. Perhaps the most glaring

         15  reason that it's unfair is that voters often have no

         16  way of determining the polling places to which they

         17  are assigned. The board is not required to send

         18  notices to all voters, such as inactive voters or

         19  voters who have moved. A certain percentage of

         20  notices get lost in the mail. What's more, the Board

         21  can't accurately and promptly respond to all voter

         22  inquiries about polling places. As you may have

         23  heard, the New York Post reported about a month ago

         24  that the City Board of Elections responded to voter

         25  inquiries about where to vote five months after the
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          2  election. For those voters, casting a ballot was not

          3  unlike playing the lottery.

          4                 As you are also no doubt aware,

          5  earlier this year, the Court of Appeals decided that

          6  New York law requires local boards to count

          7  affidavit ballots cast in the wrong election

          8  district, but not those cast in the wrong polling

          9  place. It's important to note that the court did not

         10  say that New York law prohibits local boards from

         11  counting affidavit ballots cast in the wrong polling

         12  places. And the Court also did not consider federal

         13  law, which in fact does require that those affidavit

         14  ballots be counted. I'd be happy to discuss the

         15  reasons afterwards. There is simply no good reason

         16  why the City should continue to countenance a

         17  practice that has the effect of unfairly

         18  disenfranchising voters as a result of

         19  administrative errors. Thank you. I'd be happy to

         20  answer questions afterwards.

         21                 MS. NGAI: Good morning Chairman

         22  Perkins and members of the Governmental Operations

         23  Committee. My name is Amy Ngai, and I am the Program

         24  Associate at Citizens Union, a century old force for

         25  good government here in New York.

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          3  testify today on the bills being considered by your

          4  Committee. We are aware that three bills and three

          5  resolutions are being discussed today, but at this

          6  point we are prepared to comment on only four. We

          7  look forward to engaging with you on the other

          8  issues at a later date.

          9                 In regards to Introduction No. 1,

         10  Citizens Union has long supported efforts to

         11  increase voter participation throughout the City. We

         12  supported the passage of the Pro- Voter Law and the

         13  more recent Young Adult Voter Registration Act. As

         14  voting is the central element of democracy, we feel

         15  it is incumbent upon our municipality to make

         16  efforts to promote voter registration in the City

         17  throughout the year. While we believe the Pro- Voter

         18  Law is a positive step in this direction, the

         19  impacts of the law have been hampered by the lack of

         20  compliance across City agencies. We believe annual

         21  training for agencies, verbal assistance for the

         22  public and agency distribution of voter forms will

         23  help make the Pro- Voter Law more effective in

         24  increasing voter registration throughout the City.

         25  Citizens Union supports Introduction No. 1.
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          2                 In regards to Intro No. 560, Citizens

          3  Union believes it is critically important that the

          4  Board of Elections contact those who have voted by

          5  affidavit or paper ballot in the case that their

          6  vote was not tallied. These voters should be

          7  notified immediately by the Board of Elections as to

          8  why their ballot was not counted and the steps they

          9  can take to rectify the situation. Citizens Union

         10  proposes the bill be amended in Section 1059, line

         11  6, to read, If such votes were not tallied, such

         12  notification must provide an explanation of why such

         13  votes are not tallied and the method by which the

         14  voter can rectify the situation for future

         15  elections. Notifying those votes who were tallied is

         16  less important and should be discussed with the

         17  Board of Elections as to feasibility and the cost.

         18                 In regards to Resolution No. 45,

         19  Citizens Union supports the equal application of

         20  defining family members to include those who are

         21  registered domestic partners whenever and wherever

         22  possible as to be consistent with already

         23  established statutes and regulations in which

         24  domestic partnerships are recognized. Therefore,

         25  Citizens Union supports the City Council resolution
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          2  calling upon the State legislature to amend election

          3  law to add the term domestic partner to the list of

          4  family members one may accompany outside of the

          5  election district and be eligible to receive an

          6  absentee ballot.

          7                 Lastly, in regards to Introduction

          8  No. 496, Citizens Union is not going to take a

          9  position on the reorganization of Voters Assistance

         10  Commission since we're not sure what the underlying

         11  reasons are for such a change. We do support making

         12  the Voters Assistance Commission a more important

         13  agency whose work has greater impact and hope that

         14  this bill fits within that goal. On behalf of

         15  Citizens Union, I would like to thank you for the

         16  opportunity to testify today.

         17                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: Hi, good morning. My

         18  name is Neal Rosenstein. I'm the Government Reform

         19  Coordinator for NYPIRG, the New York Public Interest

         20  Research Group. I appreciate the opportunity to

         21  speak to you today in support of Intros 1, 560,

         22  Resolution 859 and also for your restructuring of

         23  the Voter Assistance Commission.

         24                 I'll start with Intro 1 and I won't

         25  go through all my testimony.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me interrupt

          3  for a moment. Thank you, I just wanted to hear that.

          4                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: I'd just like to lay

          5  out some of the reasons why we think why; see I've

          6  already skipped a page to two, Council action is

          7  needed. It's needed to strengthen Pro- Voter, quite

          8  frankly, because after nearly three years in office,

          9  the Bloomberg Administration just gets a failing

         10  grade when it comes to actively encouraging citizens

         11  to register and vote. The evidence is clear

         12  including that the Council's own investigative unit

         13  found that the vast majority of City agencies were

         14  failing to meet the law's most central and basic

         15  requirements to distribute forms. Not a single City

         16  agency has adopted a policy of offering verbal

         17  assistance to clients, although they're allowed to

         18  under the law. Not a single City agency has adopted

         19  the policy of collecting and transmitting though

         20  they are allowed too. I think this goes to the heart

         21  of it of all the years that Pro- Voter has passed,

         22  not a single City agency has attached a voter

         23  registration form to their own intake forms in the

         24  printing process and made it an integral part of

         25  their forms as it is in the Department of Motor
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          2  Vehicle's Office; I think which shows a real lack of

          3  will.

          4                 The early Pro- Voter bill said that

          5  they should do it at their earliest practical or

          6  next regularly scheduled printing of forms. They

          7  just deem that it's not practical and it quite

          8  clearly is practical. And it's practical in agencies

          9  and other states all across the country and it's

         10  practical in DMV and it should be practical for all

         11  those City folks who don't have a car. Fortunately,

         12  the legislation in which you're dealing with today

         13  would address a lot of these short comings in the

         14  Administration's implementation of Pro- Voter.

         15                 I just want to actually touch on

         16  verbal assistance and then a suggestion on Pro-

         17  Voter just because the Mayor's folks and Counsel

         18  Crowell specified in this point some of the

         19  Administration's objections. Offering verbal

         20  assistance to clients of government agencies given

         21  voter registration forms is the norm in programs

         22  throughout the United States. It's the norm in City

         23  agencies like HRA which are covered under NVRA. It's

         24  intellectually dishonest for the Mayor's

         25  spokesperson to sit up here and say that we can't do
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          2  this, that we will be violating Executive Order 41,

          3  when they do this in HRA as our colleagues from

          4  Demos pointed out, Steve Carbo, there is nothing

          5  which requires a City worker to say, are you a

          6  citizen or not. What they're required to do is offer

          7  assistance if they are requested to do so. And

          8  there's nothing which says that they also have to

          9  retain or even know that information. They can just

         10  say, spell out what the law is. This happens right

         11  now in City agencies like HRA. I think that argument

         12  is a bid to try and appear as if they are being

         13  sensitive to some of the needs of the diverse

         14  communities of New York when in reality, it's doing

         15  the exact opposite and potentially disenfranchising

         16  them.

         17                 I'd just like to make one suggestion

         18  on Pro- Voter which we made before regarding the

         19  language, some clarifying language, dealing with the

         20  collection of forms which we think is a vital

         21  component of the program. The present language talks

         22  about forms submitted within five days before the

         23  last day of registration to vote. Such completed

         24  forms shall be transmitted by the participating

         25  agency to the Board of Elections of the City of New
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          2  York not later than five days after the date of

          3  acceptance.

          4                 I think what that is saying is if a

          5  form is submitted within the last five days, let's

          6  say, submitted the last day, this would give another

          7  five days for the agency to transmit the forms and

          8  there could be some problems with deadlines. We

          9  think it just makes a lot more sense to say that for

         10  forms which are accepted within the last five days

         11  before the last day of registration to vote, they

         12  should be submitted before said deadline. Just to

         13  make sure that if a form submitted on Friday, under

         14  this language, they might have five more days. And

         15  the deadline might be passed. That's just one

         16  technical suggestion on that.

         17                 I just then like to skip to Intro

         18  560, affidavit ballot notification. We think this is

         19  a great bill and why is it so vital? Some of the

         20  stats have already been mentioned. NYPIRG is

         21  releasing a report today up in Albany about election

         22  day registration which details a lot of the

         23  statistics about provisional ballots in New York.

         24  New York City accounted for eight percent of all the

         25  provisional ballots cast in the country last year.
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          2  And 16 percent of all the invalid data provisional

          3  ballots in the country. That's a sign that something

          4  is wrong. Frequently, it's just because poll workers

          5  are stressed and there is too many people and things

          6  are crowded. Sometimes its bad training. Sometimes

          7  they are misinformed. But the reality is that this

          8  is a real problem. And it's really some of it is

          9  specific to New York City. Only 33 percent of all

         10  the ballots cast in the State of New York were from

         11  New York City. But 58 percent of the provisional

         12  ballots were and 71 percent of the invalidated

         13  provisional ballots from the City.

         14                 Nationwide, 1.5 percent of voters

         15  cast provisional ballots and in New York State, 3.5

         16  percent of voters. New York's percentage is higher

         17  than at least 43 states. But New York City, 6.1

         18  percent of voters cast provisional ballots. That's

         19  higher than 48 other states. The other exception

         20  being Alaska which lets you basically vote wherever

         21  you want by provisional ballots. A lot of people

         22  take advantage of that. That is the reason why there

         23  is so many because folks can fill out a provisional

         24  ballot where they work as opposed to where they are

         25  properly registered and could be counted.
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          2                 In short, we urge the Council to pass

          3  this Intro. Unfortunately, too often the reason

          4  voters ballots are rejected is due to Board of

          5  Election poll worker errors such as not being

          6  informed of their proper poll site. We support the

          7  suggestions made by our colleagues at the Brennan

          8  Center for a system which would lay out whether a

          9  Board of Elections employee had actually the voter

         10  of what their right poll site is.

         11                 We have one other suggestion to make;

         12  that is the Board of Elections will already be

         13  generating these letters and sending them out to

         14  folks. We think it will be very useful for the City

         15  to just require the Board of Elections to aggregate

         16  and tabulate and publish those results in a report

         17  of their own. So we could see by borough, perhaps

         18  even by assembly district and Citywide whether or

         19  not this is a problem which is going away or getting

         20  worse. We think that's an excellent thing in the

         21  same spirit of the Mayor's Management Report to have

         22  it on an ongoing basis and if they are generating

         23  these letters, my sense is they will be computerized

         24  and that report won't be hard to do. But we may not

         25  see that report unless the Council actually
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          2  assertively requires it for election after election

          3  and year and year and not only when attention is

          4  being focused on the Board.

          5                 Finally, we also support the

          6  resolution, No. 859, the Count Every Vote of 2005

          7  and the Intro before you for restructuring the Voter

          8  Assistance Commission. I would like to briefly

          9  restate our thought that you could look at the

         10  restructuring of that with some slight changes. We

         11  would like to see appointees having a non- partisan

         12  background. I think right now if we look at the

         13  current Voter Assistance Commission, the Chairman

         14  who is an appointed Commissioner also works part-

         15  time, but for State representatives, State Senator

         16  and actually has sat there and chaired meetings

         17  while working on campaigns as a press person. He or

         18  other folks can be very highly intelligent and are

         19  motivated, but at the very least that's appearance

         20  of a conflict. We think having some kind of language

         21  which would prevent folks from being active

         22  participants in partisan work would help strengthen

         23  that component of the Voters Assistance Commission

         24  restructuring bill.

         25                 I've attached just to let you know a
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          2  brief summary of recommendations to the report we're

          3  releasing in Albany today. I have full copies of the

          4  report for the Committee as well. Thank you.

          5                 MR. SIMONE: Chairman Perkins, Council

          6  Members Quinn, Comrie, and others, I'm specifically

          7  going to focus on Resolution 859. But we do support

          8  all other resolutions and legislation that have been

          9  introduced today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Would you let us

         11  know what your name is and what organization you

         12  represent?

         13                 MR.: SIMONE: Sure. I'm the Policy and

         14  Field Director for People for the American Way. This

         15  is my first time testifying for the City Council. So

         16  I'm a little nervous. People for the American Way in

         17  New York and People for the American Way is a social

         18  justice organization as many of you know, a national

         19  social justice organization. Our commitment, one of

         20  our main priorities is election reform.

         21                 We have sought to engage those

         22  Americans who have traditionally been unrepresented

         23  at the polls, specifically young voters and people

         24  of color. As we all know, the right to vote is

         25  fundamental to the health of our democracy. Sadly,
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          2  as we all know, the public confidence was shaken to

          3  the core during the 2000 election even though many

          4  of the problems of election reform were way older

          5  than the 2000 election. The Help America Vote Act

          6  was originally drafted with the consultation of

          7  numerous civil rights organizations; people for the

          8  American Way and we commend other groups here at the

          9  table like the Brennan Center, NYPIRG, Demos and

         10  many other groups, who work with People for the

         11  American Way and the 2004 election specifically on

         12  our program election protection; which sought to

         13  protect the voters rights at the polls.

         14                 Specifically, I want to focus on

         15  Senator Clinton's and other senator's introduction

         16  of the resolution support, the Count Every Vote Act.

         17  We support all the provisions in the Count Every

         18  Vote Act and commend the Council for supporting

         19  resolution to raise awareness of this legislation.

         20  As we spend billions of dollars to help promote the

         21  democratization of other countries and ensure the

         22  administration of fair elections in Iraq, we not

         23  only support Senator Clinton's efforts, Boxer and

         24  Lautenberg, Kerry and others on the Count Every Vote

         25  Act so the voters can be assured that integrity and
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          2  fairness of the American electoral system. If we are

          3  for free elections in Iraq, we should also be for

          4  free elections here at home.

          5                 The Count Every Vote Act takes a

          6  practical approach towards restoring confidence in

          7  our electoral system and providing greater

          8  accessibility for all voters. We are extremely

          9  encouraged by the inclusion of provisions that

         10  increase voters' ability to exercise their right to

         11  vote such as Election Day registration, no- excuse

         12  absentee voting, early voting. For example, the

         13  inability for voters to have their votes counted if

         14  they voted by provisional ballot in the wrong

         15  precinct was far too common in the 2004 elections.

         16  These provisions alone will help address the

         17  majority of voting problems and counted by voters on

         18  election day. The inclusion of these provisions is a

         19  milestone in the effort to reform electoral process.

         20                 With only one component of

         21  comprehensive election reform, securing the ballot

         22  is at the core of ensuring the integrity of our

         23  electoral system. We also support voter verifiable

         24  audit trail as one method of helping to secure the

         25  vote by encouraging polling place the use of
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          2  electronic voting systems such as DRE's, with voter

          3  verifiable paper trail technology and at least one

          4  DR that is fully accessible for voters with

          5  disabilities and language minority voters such as

          6  Asian Americans here in New York.

          7                 It also includes the necessary

          8  provisions to help ensure the security and integrity

          9  of the ballot. People from the American Way is

         10  particularly pleased with the inclusion of

         11  provisions requiring the restoration of voting

         12  rights for ex- felons who have paid their debt to

         13  society by completing their incarceration, probation

         14  and parole. What better way to re- engage

         15  individuals as full participants in society than to

         16  restore their right to vote. For far too long,

         17  arcane felon disenfranchisement laws have remained

         18  on the books in states despite their sordid history.

         19  If we are sincere about rehabilitating felons in our

         20  society, they must be given the proper tools to do

         21  so. In order for people to truly appreciate their

         22  roles as a responsible citizen in society, we must

         23  encourage their full civic participation.

         24                 Another thing that I wanted mention

         25  and part of some of the reports we did for the 2004

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  election, while we support Senator Clinton's bill,

          3  is many of the folks like the long lines at polls

          4  was one of the major barriers to voting in the last

          5  election. We worked with many groups, some here at

          6  the table, Lawyers Committee for Civil Rights Under

          7  Law, NAACP and many others. We had direct evidence

          8  of voters waiting upwards of ten or more hours to

          9  cast their vote.

         10                 While this is an excellent example of

         11  the resolve of voters to participate in our

         12  democratic system, no voter should have to exercise

         13  this much resolve to cast their vote. We know this

         14  was a result of various factors including

         15  inequitable distribution of voting systems and

         16  insufficient number of poll workers and other voting

         17  resources at the polling place and also

         18  intimidation. The Clinton bill effectively addresses

         19  all these issues by establishing uniform standards

         20  for election officials that would help limit long

         21  lines to 60 minutes or less.

         22                 In addition to that, as I mentioned,

         23  the whole sorry episode in the 2000 election has

         24  left deep scars and done great damage to public

         25  confidence and many Americans feel little solace
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          2  from the 2004 elections. However, the Count Every

          3  Vote Act takes a giant step towards restoring this

          4  confidence and encouraging voter turnout.

          5                 Once again, I want to make sure to

          6  thank and commend the numerous groups here today,

          7  Brennan Center, Demos, Citizens Union, NYPIRG,

          8  Common Cause and many others as well as the Council

          9  Members for drawing attention to these problems.

         10  Thank you for the opportunity to testify. I will be

         11  happy to take questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you all

         13  for your testimony. I want to acknowledge a member

         14  of this Committee, Council Member Leroy Comrie, the

         15  Majority Whip has arrived. At the appropriate time,

         16  you will be given an opportunity to vote on the

         17  legislation that we voted on already. If you can

         18  wait, I'd like to -- can you wait? Thank you.

         19  Questions for anyone. The Local Law 1, the

         20  Administration obviously is very strongly opposed to

         21  it by virtue of the immigration, the Executive Order

         22  41 as well as some course that the Administration

         23  claims will be incurred not to mention other

         24  inefficiencies in terms of staff being distracted to

         25  do registration. How do you respond to all of that?
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          2  Briefly.

          3                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: I think it's a bug-

          4  a- boo. It's a red herring. The same arguments were

          5  raised for people against motor voter. We see that

          6  now working very well in NVRA. The citizenship issue

          7  really shouldn't be an issue. It isn't an issue.

          8  Verbal Assistance is offered to folks. There is

          9  nothing which in this bill is requiring City workers

         10  to know, to collect, to find out or to ask what

         11  someone's citizenship status is. Perhaps it is well

         12  meaning intended from the Administration, but I

         13  think they have to go back and look at the bill

         14  because in their own City agencies right now like

         15  HRA, they offer verbal assistance and it's not an

         16  issue. With Verbal Assistance also does and I did

         17  mention this in my testimony, is it helps ensure

         18  that folks aren't filling out a form improperly.

         19  What it helps ensure is if a non- citizen is given a

         20  form and isn't sure whether to fill it out or not as

         21  opposed to potentially violating the provisions of

         22  their own status as a non- citizen and filling out

         23  that form, Verbal Assistance allows them to avoid

         24  that from happening by finding out whether or not

         25  they are suppose to be filling out that form to
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          2  begin with.

          3                 If I could briefly say an economic

          4  arguments, the State Board of Elections already also

          5  offers excellent trainings on NVRA. It is not as if

          6  the City is going to have to reinvent the wheel and

          7  in the past they've invited City agencies to come to

          8  those trainings. There are very cost effective ways

          9  of implementing this into existing NVRA structures

         10  that are currently taking place in the City and

         11  State.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I know Demos has

         13  had an opportunity to address the immigrant issue.

         14  Do you want to have something to say about the cost

         15  issue or the efficiency issue?

         16                 MR. CARBO: I endorse the comments of

         17  my colleague.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: If you have

         19  nothing to add, don't add.

         20                 MR. CARBO: In the nature of time,

         21  I'll pass.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There are others

         23  who are waiting and especially the New York City

         24  Board of Elections who was here first. I don't want

         25  them to suffer any longer because I know they have
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          2  important work to do. If there is anyone else who

          3  have anything to add to what was just said. If not,

          4  then thank you so much for your testimony and the

          5  good work that you've been doing on behalf of the

          6  citizens of New York City and New York State. We

          7  will stay in touch with you as we move forward on

          8  these resolutions and this legislation. Your

          9  testimony is very, very important to us. Your work

         10  is very important to us. Thank you so much. Now we

         11  will hear from the New York City Board of Elections.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Gentlemen, do

         13  you swear or affirm that the testimony that you're

         14  about to give will be the truth, the whole truth,

         15  and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MR. GONZALEZ: Yes, sir.

         17                 MR. UMANE: Yes, sir.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you very

         19  much. You may proceed.

         20                 MR. GONZALEZ: Good morning. My name

         21  is George Gonzalez and I'm the Deputy Executive

         22  Director of the New York City Board of Elections and

         23  here with me today is the President of the Board,

         24  Frederic Umane. Council Members, on behalf of the

         25  Board of Elections in the City of New York, I want
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          2  to thank you for the invitation to appear before you

          3  today. John Ravitz, the Board's Executive Director,

          4  together with other members of our senior management

          5  team and most of our Commissioners are in Syracuse,

          6  New York, today attending the New York State Board

          7  of Elections Annual Conference.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is this that

          9  party that everybody talks about?

         10                 MR. UMANE: No, it's a significant

         11  business meeting, Mr. Chair.

         12                 MR. GONZALEZ: Only one of the bills

         13  and resolutions you consider today, Intro 560 would

         14  directly affect the Board of Elections in the City

         15  of New York. If enacted into law, Intro 560 would

         16  mandate that the Board of Elections notify in

         17  writing any person who voted in a general or special

         18  election by either affidavit or paper ballot, if

         19  their vote was canvassed, and if not provide an

         20  explanation. The Board would have 90 days after

         21  certification of the election to send this notice.

         22                 I would like to take a few moments

         23  and share some relevant information with you with

         24  respect to that proposal. First, the bill refers to

         25  affidavit or paper ballots. An affidavit ballot is

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  one of several types of paper ballots currently used

          3  in the City of New York. The Board of Elections,

          4  pursuant to the New York State Election Law prepares

          5  and prints the following types of paper ballots:

          6  Number one, is absentee which are used by voters who

          7  have applied for an absentee ballot either on a

          8  permanent basis or for a given election. Number two;

          9  military, used by voters who are currently serving

         10  in the Armed Forces of the United States and related

         11  services and are registered to vote in New York

         12  City.

         13                 Ballot Type number three: Federal,

         14  which are used only in federal elections by American

         15  citizens who have applied since they are living

         16  abroad and whose last residence within the United

         17  States was in one of the City's five boroughs.

         18  Ballot type number four is special presidential

         19  ballot which is used to vote only for electors for

         20  President and Vice President by voters who are

         21  registered to vote in New York City and recently

         22  moved to another jurisdiction and cannot be

         23  registered in time in that jurisdiction to vote for

         24  electors for President and Vice President of the

         25  United States.
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          2                 Each of these four types generally

          3  requires a special application to be submitted

          4  before the ballot is mailed to them and then is

          5  returned to the Board via the mail. The Board is

          6  also required to prepare and print "Special

          7  Ballots." These ballots are used by person who

          8  qualify under the Election Law as a result of unique

          9  circumstances. Victims of domestic violence and

         10  persons whose religious scruples prevent them from

         11  voting either in the regular poll site can apply for

         12  special ballot beginning one week before an election

         13  and can cast a vote on a paper ballot voted on in

         14  the appropriate borough office of the Board.

         15                 Special ballots are also available

         16  for poll workers and BOE employees whose duties on

         17  election day will not allow them to vote at their

         18  regular poll site. These paper ballots can be

         19  distributed two weeks before an election event and

         20  must be delivered by the voter to a BOE facility or

         21  the poll site where they work before the close of

         22  the polls on election day.

         23                 All of the foregoing paper ballots

         24  are printed at least month in advance of the

         25  election for distribution pursuant to the election
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          2  law and may or may not include all the candidates on

          3  the ballot on election day as a result of judicial

          4  proceedings. The Board also prints immediately

          5  before each election event Standby Ballots, which

          6  must accurately reflect the candidates that actually

          7  appear on the voting machine in that election

          8  district. These ballots are further subdivided into

          9  two types: Emergency and Affidavit Ballots.

         10                 Emergency ballots are used by voters

         11  when there is a mechanical voting machine breakdown

         12  on election day. While waiting for the arrival of a

         13  technician to repair the mechanical voting machine

         14  or the arrival of a replacement machine, qualified

         15  voters can vote on a paper ballot, which is

         16  deposited in a sealed ballot box and then counted at

         17  the end of the election day at the poll site, after

         18  the votes were cast on the machine. To be valid, an

         19  emergency ballot must not have any identifying marks

         20  on it to trace it to a specific voter. The

         21  opportunity to challenge the casting of the voter's

         22  ballot rest with the watcher at the poll site before

         23  the voter is given the paper ballot, in the same way

         24  that one can challenge the eligibility of a voter to

         25  cast a vote on a mechanical voting machine.
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          2                 Affidavit ballots, which nationally

          3  are known as provisional ballots, have been in use

          4  in New York State for decades. Section 8- 302 of the

          5  Election Law provides that a voter who swears to an

          6  affidavit stating that he or she is duly registered

          7  to vote from an address in the election district, he

          8  or she has appeared and his or her registration

          9  record is either lost or misplaced (i.e., his or her

         10  name does not appear in the poll list book) may vote

         11  on an emergency paper ballot and place such ballot

         12  in the envelope with the affidavit, seal it and

         13  deliver it to the inspectors at the poll site for

         14  delivery to the Board of Elections for canvassing.

         15                 The counting of paper ballots is

         16  governed by Section 9- 209 of the New York State

         17  Election Law. The statute outlines the general

         18  format for the canvass of absentee, military,

         19  federal, special and affidavit ballots. Failure to

         20  comply with specific statutory mandates such as the

         21  date to postmark an absentee ballot, the last

         22  date/time for the Board to receive a ballot to be

         23  canvassed or the requirement that the envelope

         24  contain the signature of the voter may invalidate

         25  that type of paper ballot.
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          2                 Furthermore, Section 5- 403 of the

          3  New York State Election Law imposes a statutory

          4  mandate on all Boards of Elections within the State

          5  to notify persons whose affidavit ballots are not

          6  counted. Section 5- 403 provides: "Whenever the

          7  ballot of any person, voted in an affidavit envelope

          8  in the manner prescribed by this chapter, is

          9  rejected under the provisions of this chapter on the

         10  grounds that such person is not a qualified voter of

         11  the election district wherein he sought to vote, or

         12  is not duly enrolled in the party in whose primary

         13  he sought to vote, the Board of Elections shall

         14  immediately notify person by first class mail

         15  directed to the address given in his affidavit, of

         16  the rejection of his ballot, together with the

         17  reasons thereof and the appropriate information on

         18  the times and places where he may register, re-

         19  register, enroll, or change or correct his

         20  enrollment. Where appropriate, a form of application

         21  for personal registration by mail shall be included

         22  with such notice."

         23                 The Board of Elections in the City of

         24  New York has adopted detailed procedures to govern

         25  that process and implement the foregoing provisions
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          2  of the New York State Election Law, which have been

          3  upheld by both Appellate Divisions in the First and

          4  Second Judicial Departments. We're quoting here

          5   "Espada v. Diaz and the New York City Board of

          6  Elections, as the Appellate Division, 1st Department

          7  and that was in 2002 and People for Ferrer v. New

          8  York City Board of Elections, Appellate Division,

          9  2nd Department in 2001."

         10                 In those procedures, (page 20 of

         11  Section 4 of the Board's Policies and Procedures),

         12  the Commissioners have directed (which has the force

         13  of law) that the Board of Elections as required by

         14  law shall notify "all affidavit voters whose ballots

         15  were not counted" by using one of the two letters

         16  attached to this statement. The first notice tells

         17  us the voter that his/her affidavit ballot was not

         18  counted because the voter voted at the wrong poll

         19  site. The second letter would advise the voter that

         20  his/her affidavit was not counted because the voter

         21  was (1) not registered; (2) for a primary election,

         22  was not enrolled in the political party which he/she

         23  sought to vote; or (3) again, the voter voted at the

         24  wrong poll site.

         25                 The only times that the Board does
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          2  not communicate with the person whose affidavit

          3  ballot was not counted is when the name or the

          4  address on the affidavit ballot envelope is written

          5  so illegibly that no one cannot properly address the

          6  notice or where the name and/or address given is

          7  clearly not a valid one (such as an affidavit for

          8   "Mickey Mouse"). The foregoing procedures of the

          9  State's Election Law and this Board's procedures

         10  enable the City Board to comply with the recently

         11  enacted Federal law, the Help America Vote Act of

         12  2002, commonly known as HAVA. Subsection 302,

         13  paragraph a, five b of HAVA mandates that the

         14  appropriate State or local election official

         15  establish a system so that an individual who casts a

         16  provisional ballot (i.e., an affidavit) to determine

         17  if that ballot was counted, and if not, the reason

         18  that the vote was not counted.

         19                 The Board of Elections in the City of

         20  New York is pleased to report that in this instance,

         21  it has been advising for many years, those persons

         22  who in the end unsuccessfully attempted to vote by

         23  affidavit ballot why their ballot was not counted

         24  and provided them with the proper information to

         25  enable them to register and/or vote at the correct
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          2  poll site in time for the next election. However,

          3  the Board has several concerns which we would like

          4  to share with you. To us, the scope and specific

          5  intent of Intro 560 is unclear.

          6                 How does Intro 560 modify the Board's

          7  existing procedures, the New York State Election Law

          8  and HAVA? If enacted, will the Board be required to

          9  mail a notice to persons using other types of

         10  ballots if they are not counted? Which type of paper

         11  ballots would be covered by this proposal? What are

         12  the possible implications if this bill is enacted

         13  and the State chooses to use a paper ballot optical

         14  scanning system to replace the lever machines? For

         15  example, it would be impossible to notify a voter

         16  who voted by an emergency ballot that was

         17  invalidated, since there should be no identification

         18  of the voter. A similar problem would arise if the

         19  lever machines are replaced by a poll site based

         20  paper ballot optical scanning system.

         21                 On the other hand, there would be

         22  significant costs both in terms of personnel and

         23  expenses to notify an absentee, military, federal or

         24  special ballot voter that their ballot was not

         25  counted, since they did not comply with the relevant
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          2  statutory provisions relating to the type of ballot

          3  involved. As always, the Board of Elections wants to

          4  work with this Committee and all members of the City

          5  Council to improve and enhance our ability to

          6  service the four million plus registered voters in

          7  the City of New York. We urge you to consider the

          8  concerns and implications that this bill raises and

          9  work with us to clarify its intended application.

         10  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Commissioner.

         12                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: I don't have

         13  formal testimony in excess of that. But I'd just

         14  like to say that current state law already provides

         15  for this. But what the Intro 560 was seeking -- oh,

         16  Frederic Umane. I'm President of New York City Board

         17  of Elections and Republican Commissioner for

         18  Manhattan. I just think its interesting to me that

         19  the six good government groups didn't bother to

         20  check the State law before they came up and testify

         21  as in favor of this statute as it is even though

         22  that we are doing it and we have been doing it and

         23  we have been given the reasons why. I think that we

         24  took a number of shots in the presentations by those

         25  six people and many of those were as inaccurate as
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          2  their support of this bill. And the reasons for the

          3  support of this bill. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And

          4  we appreciate the opportunity to testify today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you so

          6  much for your testimony, your patience. Let me see

          7  if I can raise a few concerns and see where we can

          8  find some sense of agreement. Do you recognize that

          9  there is a problem of affidavits not being counted

         10  and voters feeling disenfranchised and I would dare

         11  say from your point of view, incorrectly they may

         12  feel that way because they may not truly be entitled

         13  to vote. But nevertheless, find themselves in the

         14  dark as to why their ballot was not counted. In

         15  fact, maybe not even have been informed that they

         16  were not counted, but we'll put that to the side for

         17  a moment. I'd just like to know, do you realize that

         18  there is a concern out there that voters who vote by

         19  affidavit ballot, paper ballot, don't know that

         20  their ballots are not counted and believe that

         21  something is wrong. Do you understand what the

         22  concern is?

         23                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: Yes, I

         24  understand. If I could respond to that. We currently

         25  and have as we said for a number of years in those
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          2  instances where people have voted by affidavit

          3  ballot, if their ballot was not counted, they get a

          4  letter from the Board of Elections explaining why

          5  their ballot wasn't counted together with a new

          6  voter registration form to permit them to fill it

          7  out and send it in. We could argue as to whether or

          8  not the language in our letter needs improvement and

          9  we're certainly always ready to work with the

         10  Council or anybody else as to that. But we're

         11  sensitive to that and State law actually provides

         12  for such a notice. In each case, absent

         13  impossibility of not being able to figure out who

         14  that voter was, we do send out the notice and copies

         15  of those are attached.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. One

         17  second, please. The Whip has to vote. I would like

         18  to ask the clerk to provide him with that

         19  opportunity now.

         20                 COUNSEL CLERK: Introduction 630,

         21  Council Member Comrie.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I vote aye.

         23                 COUNSEL CLERK: The vote currently

         24  stands at eight in the affirmative, zero in the

         25  negative and no abstentions.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

          3  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you for

          5  your attendance and your vote and your good work

          6  with this Committee. Of course, the vote will remain

          7  open as I know that Council Member Reed has

          8  indicated that he would be here late. Apparently,

          9  the State law calls on you to do this in recognition

         10  that there is that concern. I guess you have as part

         11  of your testimony provided an invalid affidavit

         12  letter.

         13                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: Yes.

         14                 MR. GONZALEZ: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'd like to go

         16  through the letter just so we can see if it

         17  addresses the concerns because there is clearly

         18  still some concern out there. I just want to make

         19  sure we figure out what it is and how we can fix it

         20  since you are so interested in doing so. The first

         21  one says you are not a registered voter. Enclosed is

         22  a registration form for your convenience. I think

         23  that's easy.

         24                 MR. GONZALEZ: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The next one
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          2  says you signed the poll book which indicated you

          3  voted on the machine.

          4                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: So if they have

          5  already voted, we don't let them vote a second time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Now this is the

          7  problem. I'm the voter. I voted on the machine. How

          8  did I get an affidavit ballot?

          9                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: You may be saying

         10  that you're not sure if your vote counted. You're

         11  not sure if you voted the right way.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: How did I get an

         13  affidavit ballot?

         14                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: You would ask the

         15  inspector and if you are insistent, they may give

         16  you an affidavit ballot to permit you to vote. And

         17  then they will tell you that your vote may not have

         18  been counted or would have been counted. But the

         19  idea is that they have already gone into the

         20  machine. They've come out. They are carrying on

         21  because they think they may have made a mistake. It

         22  could have been that the person went in, didn't vote

         23  on the machine correctly. As you may know, two years

         24  ago we implemented something called the lever that

         25  would permit --
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          2                 MR. GONZALEZ: Release lever.

          3                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: I'm sorry?

          4                 MR. GONZALEZ: Release lever.

          5                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: Release lever.

          6  Where if you don't cast any votes, once you go in

          7  you have to push a button to indicate that you

          8  intended to go in and not vote for anybody. This

          9  category could have come up and been part of the

         10  letter before we had put that new voting lever in to

         11  permit people. There was some concern that people

         12  would go in the voting machine, flip the lever to

         13  the right, put everything down that they were voting

         14  and then raise all the little levers back and

         15  thinking they haven't voted just pushing it down and

         16  then they lift it up and then they throw the lever

         17  back.

         18                 We installed a repaired device on the

         19  machines to avoid that. I think that may have caused

         20  some confusion. But the issue is that people would

         21  come out, say they're not sure they voted. The

         22  inspectors won't let them go back into the machine

         23  to vote and so they ask for an affidavit ballot. And

         24  then their second vote would not be counted because

         25  in fear they have already voted when they went into
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          2  the machine.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: To me, there is

          4  more to this than that. It seems to me this is an

          5  inspector's issue. The inspector should not allow

          6  someone to vote on the machine and then give them an

          7  affidavit ballot.

          8                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: That's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Under any

         10  circumstance. Not matter how much harassment. That's

         11  why your officers are there.

         12                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: That's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I can see some

         14  confusion that would happen in that regard because

         15  if I voted on the machine and then for some reason

         16  you allowed me to vote on an affidavit ballot and I

         17  get a notice saying that my vote didn't count, what

         18  vote did not count. There is a little confusion with

         19  this one to me.

         20                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: This would mean

         21  the affidavit because it's an invalid affidavit

         22  letter. So its advising that their affidavit ballot

         23  did not count.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Right. I just

         25  think this is a little confusing.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Even from the

          4  description that you gave. What I'm suggesting maybe

          5  a review of this letter. Because I see for instance

          6  even the one with the date of birth or did not

          7  complete part B. What is part B?

          8                 MR. GONZALEZ: Part B on the affidavit

          9  ballot envelope is the section that the voter

         10  completes for name, address, signature and so on and

         11  so forth.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: See that's what

         13  I'm saying.

         14                 MR. GONZALEZ: If they put in their

         15  name as George Gonzalez, leave everything else

         16  blank. They have to complete that form totally.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I understand.

         18  See what I'm trying to say. I'd like to believe that

         19  you want to inform the voters whose ballots were not

         20  counted. I guess --

         21                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: We should be more

         22  specific.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I think there is

         24  some reworking of some of this that at least on this

         25  level. Even the primary Election Day, the political
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          2  party in which you are enrolled did not have a

          3  primary. An acknowledgment notice will be sent to

          4  you. What does that mean an acknowledgment notice

          5  will be sent to you?

          6                 MR. GONZALEZ: What that means is, for

          7  example, I'm an independent voter and I want to try

          8  to vote on a democratic primary. Of course, my name

          9  is not going to be in the book. I'm going to vote by

         10  an affidavit ballot. When the borough gets the

         11  affidavit ballot, they look at the record and see

         12  that George Gonzalez was registered as an

         13  independent voter, therefore, they're not going to

         14  count the affidavit ballot, but I'm going to send

         15  him an acknowledgment notice which includes my name,

         16  address, poll site location, ED80 as well as my

         17  party enrollment so I have it for future reference.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. I guess

         19  that we want to move forward in terms of making sure

         20  that the voters whose votes are not counted are

         21  properly informed as to the reasons why so that they

         22  can feel some confidence that their opportunity to

         23  vote or their opportunity to express their point of

         24  view is denied for good reasons; for clear reasons.

         25  By the same token, even the legislation does not
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          2  explicitly relate to this, I also have learned that

          3  even those whose votes are counted, by affidavit

          4  ballot, sometimes don't even know that their vote

          5  was counted. You can vote by affidavit ballot.

          6                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You give me

          8  credit. I haven't heard from you. I don't know that

          9  I was given credit. I may go register again. Or I

         10  may instead just walk around the neighborhood and

         11  complain, but I know I'm registered. I vote every

         12  election. They don't know that you found their

         13  registration and gave them credit because we don't

         14  communicate that. You make a note, I assume, on

         15  their record.

         16                 MR. GONZALEZ: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But how does the

         18  voter know?

         19                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: They could call

         20  the borough office or they could call the HAVA

         21  hotline when it's formerly set up to verify that

         22  their vote was counted.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: All right.

         24                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: It would just

         25  impose tremendous additional burden on the Board of
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          2  Elections to have to send out and I guess just for

          3  the record, we have the official numbers. There were

          4  approximately 149,779 affidavit ballots cast in the

          5  last general election and 77,804 of those were

          6  determined to be valid. I'm not sure where some of

          7  the people got their numbers that they were quoting

          8  before. But these are our official numbers and I

          9  presume whatever numbers they did get, they did get

         10  from us which we provide all the information to

         11  whoever asked for it. It's about 55,000 roughly

         12  additional notifications that we would have to send

         13  out.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That's about 50

         15  percent that actually were counted. Is that what

         16  you're saying?

         17                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: That's right. A

         18  little more than 50 were counted.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Any other

         20  questions? Council Member Addabbo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair. I first want to thank the Board of

         23  Elections for all that they do and the work that

         24  they do. I don't mean to discredit any work that is

         25  done during election period. I am the prime sponsor
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          2  of this bill. And this bill for me was a product of

          3  frustration of the voters. This was me walking

          4  throughout the district and right after the 2004

          5  elections, hearing the frustration of the voters

          6  saying I went to the polling place. I thought I was

          7  suppose to vote there. They didn't send me to

          8  another voting place. I had to do by paper ballot,

          9  what now, what goes after that? Or they were sent to

         10  another voting place and the second voting place

         11  didn't have their name or anything else and they had

         12  to do a paper ballot there and again more

         13  frustration. To me, a frustrated voter becomes a

         14  non- voter.

         15                 I think this is one way because the

         16  information the Board of Election already has, they

         17  already have this paper ballot, this affidavit

         18  ballot, whether the vote counted or not and if it

         19  didn't count, why not and how to rectify it. That's

         20  basically the intent of this bill to address those

         21  issues.

         22                 Now, whether to just by already

         23  existing state legislation in your letter, like the

         24  Chairman said, we're going to have to take a look at

         25  your letter. But I still think the bill, Intro 560
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          2  addresses something that is not addressed either by

          3  State law or by this letter, and that is if the vote

          4  did count. Again, this is to supplement to HAVA

          5  requirements that the person can call. But asked how

          6  many of my voters know that they can call based on

          7  HAVA requirements until obviously education of the

          8  voter is out there, that void still exists. That is

          9  what Intro 560 is.

         10                 I don't mean to overburden the Board

         11  of Elections or do much additional cost. But the

         12  information is already there. It's not like you have

         13  to go research it. You have it. You knew that 77,000

         14  out of 149,000 were affidavit ballots. What happened

         15  to the remaining 50 percent?

         16                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: Those people were

         17  contacted in writing with the information and

         18  admittedly we could do better on the letter perhaps.

         19  We're prepared to work on that. But all those people

         20  in addition to getting a letter, get a registration

         21  statement from us in the mail that they could fill

         22  out and mail in and then for sure be capable of

         23  voting in the next election.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Like I said,

         25  I'd like to go over the letter with you. I'd also
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          2  like to maybe amend some of the language in Intro

          3  560 making sure it is perfectly clear that this is

          4  to supplement the HAVA requirements. Because I think

          5  very highly of the HAVA requirements. To address the

          6  frustration of voters, we don't want to lose voters.

          7  We want to obviously entice them to come back or

          8  encourage them to come back. The frustrated voter

          9  who bounces from polling place to polling place and

         10  never knows what happened to their vote, I think

         11  that should be addressed. I look forward to working

         12  with you. Thanks, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: We agree. And we

         14  remain to ready to work with the Council and the

         15  staff to try to come up with a new letter. If you

         16  want, we'll work on it and provide it to you in a

         17  very short time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I would ask the

         20  Board of Elections that has such a great mandate try

         21  not to color your tasks with money as the obstacle.

         22  I understand that money is real and the need for

         23  resources is real. If money is needed to do a task,

         24  then that should not undermine or in any way qualify

         25  the value of whatever the task may be. If you have
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          2  to send out 75,000 more for the sake of the voting

          3  is something that you have to do. And then those of

          4  us on the other side have to figure out how to get

          5  the resources to you. I appreciate you raising those

          6  kinds of issues in terms of resources and staff and

          7  all of that. But I think that you should be provided

          8  with the opportunity to just measure this

          9  legislation and other ideas on the merits of how

         10  they help you fulfill your mandate which is a very,

         11  very important mandate and then throw back to us the

         12  responsibility of having to make sure the

         13  appropriate resources are there to make that happen.

         14                 I know that very often in certain

         15  types of operations, the overwhelming task sometimes

         16  with not all the appropriate resources sometimes

         17  makes one somewhat shy about having to do what they

         18  might normally want to do. I just would offer that

         19  as a way of looking at this legislation and other

         20  ideas that I think will be coming before you through

         21  this Committee. Any other questions? Thank you very

         22  much. I really appreciate it and again, I especially

         23  appreciate your patience. I think it was helpful to

         24  hear from the other side as well even though it

         25  wasn't planned that way.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER UMANE: Absolutely. Thank

          3  you. We're happy to work with the Council and your

          4  staff at any time.

          5                 MR. GONZALEZ: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Unlock the

          7  block: Release the Vote, Joseph Hayden, Director,

          8  Unlock the Block; Erika Wood, Staff Attorney;

          9  Socrates Caba, Coordinator.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Witnesses, do

         11  you swear or affirm that the testimony you are about

         12  to give this Committee will be the truth, the whole

         13  truth, and nothing but the truth?

         14                 MS. WOOD: I do.

         15                 MR. CABA: I do.

         16                 MR. HAYDEN: I do.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you. You

         18  may proceed.

         19                 MS. WOOD: Good afternoon, Mr.

         20  Chairman and members of the Committee.

         21                 MR. HAYDEN: You follow me.

         22                 MS. WOOD: Sorry.

         23                 MR. HAYDEN: Good afternoon. Thank you

         24  for this opportunity to appear before you and said

         25  testimony on these three bills, Intro 1 and the two
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          2  Resolutions 19 and 859. My name is Joseph Hayden.

          3  I'm the Director of Unlock the Block: Release the

          4  Vote. A New York voting rights restoration coalition

          5  of over 80 organizations including Demos, Fortune

          6  Society, the Brennan Center for Justice at NYU, the

          7  Legal Action Center, Osborne Association and the

          8  ACLU, among others. We are housed at Demos and are

          9  part of the Right to Vote campaign, a national

         10  effort to restore the right to vote to people with

         11  felony convictions.

         12                 Unlock the Block is advocating for

         13  legislative change to repeal or amend New York

         14  State's felon disenfranchisement statute and policy

         15  change to expand and improve voter eligibility

         16  notification, voter registration and absentee voting

         17  procedures in New York's criminal justice agencies.

         18  Joining me is Erika Wood of the Legal Action Center

         19  and Socrates Caba of the Bronx HIV Care Network. You

         20  will hear from them after I complete my testimony.

         21                 We applaud Speaker Gifford Miller and

         22  Deputy Majority Leader and Chair of the Committee on

         23  Governmental  Operations, Bill Perkins, for holding

         24  a hearing today to address a variety of issues which

         25  concern voting in New York. As the Director of an
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          2  effort to extend voting rights to those with felony

          3  convictions, I will be focusing my testimony today

          4  on Introduction 1, which amends the Pro- Voter Law;

          5  Resolution 19, which supports amending the New York

          6  State statute to allow parolees to vote, and

          7  Resolution 859, which supports the passage of the

          8  Count Every Vote Act of 2005.

          9                 Amendments to Pro- Voter Law. As

         10  demonstrated by a report released in September 2003

         11  by the New York City Council Committee on Oversight

         12  and Investigations, the Pro- Voter Law has been

         13  regularly ignored by City agencies. The amendments

         14  to the Pro- Voter Law being considered today, which

         15  require mandatory annual training for agency workers

         16  on voter registration and verbal assistance for the

         17  public on completing voter registration

         18  applications, would greatly improve compliance with

         19  the law by ensuring that agency staff are actively

         20  involved in registering citizens to vote.

         21                 These amendments are of particular

         22  importance to the Unlock The Block Coalition because

         23  there is widespread confusion about who is and isn't

         24  eligible to vote among those who have interacted

         25  with the criminal justice system; people who are
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          2  arrested, pre- trial detainees held at county jails

          3  and other facilities; people convicted of

          4  misdemeanors or felonies; people on parole or

          5  probation; and even those that have completed their

          6  sentences. This confusion and misinformation

          7  prevents people who are eligible to vote from

          8  registering and voting and thus weakens the voice of

          9  our communities.

         10                 Many have no idea that only prisoners

         11  incarcerated for felony offenses and those on parole

         12  can't vote. Pre- trial detainees, those sentenced to

         13  probation, and citizens who have completed their

         14  sentences can vote like any other eligible citizen.

         15  The passage of these amendments will have a

         16  tremendous impact on all of these populations

         17  especially among eligible voters in jails such as

         18  Rikers Island, which has a daily average population

         19  of 14,000 individuals and a yearly population flow

         20  of over 100,000.

         21                 Given the widespread confusion that

         22  exists regarding voting rights, it is imperative

         23  that the annual trainings for agency staff on voter

         24  registration services, as mandated by the amendments

         25  before you today, include accurate and comprehensive
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          2  information about voting eligibility, especially for

          3  those with criminal convictions. While every agency

          4  should receive this type of training, it will be

          5  particularly meaningful and beneficial for staff in

          6  the Department of Corrections, which operates Rikers

          7  Island, and the Department of Probation, as everyday

          8  staff at these agencies interact with thousands of

          9  people who are very likely unaware of their right to

         10  vote.

         11                 More often than not, individuals do

         12  not exercise their voting rights because of

         13  misinformation and lack of information about voter

         14  eligibility. However, beyond lack of knowledge about

         15  eligibility requirements, those with criminal

         16  convictions are also misinformed about proper voter

         17  registration and voting procedures, leading to the

         18  submission of flawed registrations and the casting

         19  of invalid ballots. The amendment before you today

         20  that mandates agency staff to offer verbal

         21  assistance on the completion of voter registration

         22  applications will help prevent the errors and

         23  oversights on registration forms that lead to

         24  problems at the polls and rejected registration

         25  forms. To address misinformation about voting
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          2  procedures, we look forward to continuing to work

          3  with this Committee and the Committee of Fire and

          4  Criminal Justice to expand and improve absentee

          5  voting from City jails.

          6                 It is important to note that many

          7  other states around the country have recognized the

          8  need for proactive voter education and registration

          9  in criminal justice agencies. In Connecticut, where

         10  the disenfranchisement law is the same as in New

         11  York State, the state Department of Corrections has

         12  a videotape available to its facility libraries that

         13  includes voting eligibility information. The

         14  Department is also training staff to inform clients

         15  about voter eligibility. Other states like Kentucky

         16  and Nebraska, require voter eligibility information

         17  to be given to people as their disenfranchisement

         18  ends. New Jersey affirmatively informs prisoners,

         19  parolees, and probationers and those on parole of

         20  their voting rights.

         21                 Over the past year, Unlock the Block

         22  has worked on educating parolees, probationers and

         23  their families about their voting rights. Among many

         24  other things, we have attended New York City

         25  Probation Department sponsored events where we
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          2  conducted voter registration and distributed

          3  materials informing those on probation that they are

          4  eligible to vote. While awareness of the issue has

          5  been raised, we still encounter massive confusion

          6  about who is eligible to vote, not only among those

          7  who are impacted by the law but also among City

          8  agency employees.

          9                 The voting strength of New York's

         10  communities are severely weakened if otherwise

         11  eligible voters don't know that they can actually

         12  vote and aren't provided with the opportunity to do

         13  so. That translates directly into less political

         14  clout for our communities; specifically communities

         15  of poor people of color and less government funds

         16  for improving schools, expanding affordable housing

         17  or accessing decent jobs.

         18                 The intention of the original Pro-

         19  Voter Law and these enhancements, is noble. If there

         20  is one lesson from Motor Voter, Pro- Voter, and

         21  other election reform successes, is that they

         22  require ongoing commitment and oversight. We look

         23  forward to working with Council to create a

         24  comprehensive and accurate training for agency staff

         25  on voter eligibility and voter registration
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          2  procedures and to monitor and oversee implementation

          3  of these amendments to Pro- Voter.

          4                 We are pleased that the City Council

          5  is calling upon the New York legislature to amend

          6  the State election law to extend the right to vote

          7  to those currently on parole. New York's felony

          8  disenfranchisement law bars 56,000 individuals who

          9  are currently on parole from voting. This is in

         10  addition to the thousands of individuals in prisons

         11  who are denied the franchise. The right to vote is a

         12  fundamental right and stripping individuals,

         13  citizens, of that right serves no governmental or

         14  societal purpose. Voting rights should not be linked

         15  to criminal convictions. A policy which continues to

         16  make that connection deprives individuals from

         17  making meaningful contributions in an important

         18  aspect of society; civic engagement. It is

         19  undemocratic and regards voting as a privilege

         20  rather than a human right.

         21                 Disenfranchisement laws are

         22  particularly punitive because they stand in grand

         23  contrast to efforts to integrate individuals back

         24  into society and to ensure that they are productive

         25  members of their communities. Much like
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          2  probationers, parolees have been deemed fit to re-

          3  enter society. Members of both groups are released

          4  into the community because they are not seen as

          5  threats to public safety. There are also further

          6  similarities between probationers and parolees.

          7  Probationers work, pay taxes and obey the rules of

          8  the community. Parolees also work, pay taxes and

          9  obey the rules of the community. However, despite

         10  their identical positions within the community,

         11  parolees are not allowed to participate in a

         12  fundamental aspect of reintegration into society,

         13  the ability to have a voice in how one's community

         14  is governed.

         15                 Expanding voting rights to parolees

         16  provides them with a stake in their communities and

         17  ensures that we are not giving lip service to the

         18  notion of real integration. Continuing to relegate

         19  them to the margins only adds to their being

         20  ostracized. We commend the City Council for

         21  recognizing the importance of this issue and for

         22  urging the State legislature to expand democracy by

         23  enfranchising parolees.

         24                 Finally, we also commend the City

         25  Council for supporting the passage of the Count

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Every Vote Act of 2005, introduced in the Senate by

          3  Senator Hillary Rodham Clinton and in the House by

          4  Representative Stephanie Tubbs. This piece of

          5  legislation addresses important issues which are

          6  essential to our democracy. Among other things, it

          7  calls for more accountable and accessible voting

          8  systems, more opportunities for citizens to register

          9  to vote and cast their ballots, an expansion of the

         10  right to vote and assurances that all votes are

         11  counted.

         12                 We are particularly pleased that the

         13  resolution before the Committee supports one

         14  important part of the Count Every Vote Act, the

         15  Civic Participation Act of 2005. This initiative

         16  calls for the restoration of voting rights in

         17  federal elections for those individuals who have

         18  been convicted of felonies and are no longer

         19  incarcerated, on parole or on probation. Most states

         20  restrict the voting rights of citizens who have been

         21  convicted of felonies. Each of the 50 states has

         22  different rules about who can vote. There is no

         23  federal law governing the voting rights of people

         24  who have been convicted of crimes.

         25                 In fact, 4.65 million Americans are
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          2  disenfranchised and cannot vote. Depending on the

          3  state, ex- felons may be barred from voting until

          4  they have finished their prison sentences, probation

          5  or parole, paid fines, or completed a complicated

          6  and often difficult pardon or clemency process. Only

          7  Maine and Vermont allow all imprisoned citizens to

          8  vote. At least 12 states permanently disenfranchise

          9  ex- felons. In these states, even citizens who have

         10  served their prison terms, completed probation and

         11  parole, paid any fines, and even reincorporated into

         12  their communities are barred from voting for life.

         13  Denying the vote to 4.65 million citizens undermines

         14  American democracy. Ex- felon disenfranchisement is

         15  at odds with two core American values: The right of

         16  citizens to choose their government representatives

         17  and the ability of an individual to start a new

         18  life.

         19                 No other democracy disenfranchises so

         20  many citizens. The United States is the only

         21  democracy in the world that takes the vote away from

         22  ex- prisoners who have completed their sentences.

         23  Many countries also allow prisoners to vote,

         24  including Denmark, France, Israel, Japan, Kenya,

         25  Norway, Peru, Sweden, and Zimbabwe. Advocating for
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          2  the restoration of voting rights at federal

          3  elections is a first step towards creating a

          4  consistent and just approach to an archaic set of

          5  laws that distort our democracy and continue to

          6  discriminate against traditionally marginalized

          7  communities.

          8                 We applaud the Council for supporting

          9  the Civic Participation Act of 2005 and urge you to

         10  continue to push the state and federal government to

         11  permanently repeal felony disenfranchisement laws.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 MS. WOOD: Good afternoon, Mr.

         14  Chairman and members of the Committee. My name is

         15  Erika Wood and I'm an attorney at the Legal Action

         16  Center and also serve as the Policy Chair for Unlock

         17  the Block: Release the Vote.

         18                 The Legal Action Center is a non-

         19  profit law and policy organization with offices in

         20  New York City and Washington, D.C. That specializes

         21  in issues relating to the rights of those with

         22  criminal records, HIV/AIDS or addiction histories.

         23  Among other things, the Center advocates to fight

         24  discrimination against people with criminal records

         25  as they seek to successfully re- enter society, and

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  to break down the barriers that prevent people with

          3  criminal records from becoming engaged, responsible

          4  and productive citizens.

          5                 I want to thank you for giving me and

          6  my colleagues the opportunity to speak with you this

          7  morning. I commend you for recognizing  that there

          8  are serious problems with voter outreach and

          9  registration in New York City, and for taking these

         10  important steps to implement constructive solutions.

         11  I would like to speak to you this morning about

         12  Intro No. 1, a proposed amendment to the New York

         13  City Pro- Voter Law and Resolution No. 19, calling

         14  upon the New York State Legislature to amend the

         15  Election Law to extend the right to vote to

         16  individuals who are currently serving parole.

         17                 There is simply no question that

         18  increasing voter participation by people coming out

         19  of the criminal justice system gives them a voice

         20  and a stake in the community. The right to vote and

         21  to be empowered and to have a voice in the

         22  democratic process is critical to an individual's

         23  successful reintegration into the community.

         24  Successful re- entry of people with criminal records

         25  in turn leads to decreased recidivism and improved
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          2  quality of life  for everyone throughout the City.

          3                 We support the proposed amendments to

          4  the Pro- Voter bill which require annual training

          5  for City agencies and verbal assistance to members

          6  of the public regarding voter registration. Over the

          7  last few years, we have discovered that there is

          8  enormous confusion and misinformation in New York

          9  City and around the State about the voting rights of

         10  people with criminal records. This confusion is not

         11  just among members of the public, but also people

         12  working at the county, City and State boards of

         13  election and City and State agencies.

         14                 We believe that the training and

         15  verbal assistance requirements included in the Pro-

         16  Voter amendment could make great strides in

         17  correcting and combating this misinformation and

         18  increasing voter registration and participation by

         19  people with criminal records. We urge you to fully

         20  fund and support those responsible for providing the

         21  training and to include in the training specific

         22  information about the eligibility of people with

         23  criminal records to vote. Given the somewhat complex

         24  nature of these eligibility rules, and the large

         25  number of City residents who have been involved with
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          2  the criminal justice system, City workers need to be

          3  prepared to accurately respond to inquiries

          4  regarding the rights of people with criminal records

          5  to vote in order for the basic principles of the

          6  Pro- Voter Law to be fully realized.

          7                 We have worked closely and

          8  productively with the New York City Department of

          9  Corrections and the Department of Probation to

         10  improve and expand the information and materials

         11  these agencies provide to inmates and probationers

         12  about voting rights. We would be happy to draw on

         13  these experiences and the materials we helped create

         14  to assure that the Pro- Voter training program

         15  includes accurate, clear, easy- to- understand

         16  information about the voting rights of people with

         17  criminal records.

         18                 We have one suggestion regarding the

         19  language in the Introduction. You will note that

         20  although the Department of Corrections and Probation

         21  are listed as City agencies covered by the law, the

         22  provision that addresses when and how agencies are

         23  required to offer registration forms simply does not

         24  apply to these particular departments. The section

         25  states: "Such participating agencies shall be
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          2  required to offer voter registration forms to all

          3  persons together with written applications for

          4  services, renewal or recertification for services

          5  and change of address relating to such services."

          6  Clearly those involved in the Departments of

          7  Corrections and Probation do not apply for, renew or

          8  recertify for services, or change their address with

          9  these agencies. Consequently, there is no provision

         10  directing when and how the Departments of

         11  Corrections and Probation are required to offer

         12  voter registration forms to incarcerated individuals

         13  and those on probation.

         14                 To clarify when the Departments of

         15  Corrections and Probation are required to offer

         16  voter registration forms under the Pro- Voter law,

         17  we suggest that the following language be added to

         18  Sections 1 and 3 of the law. So it would read: "Such

         19  participating agencies shall be required to offer

         20  voter registration forms to all persons together

         21  with written applications for services, renewal or

         22  recertification for services and change of address

         23  relating to such services; and here is the new

         24  language: Or in the case of the Department of

         25  Corrections and the Department of Probation, upon
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          2  orientation or initial intake and upon discharge or

          3  release."

          4                 It is our understanding that the

          5  Departments of Corrections and Probation are

          6  currently meeting their responsibility and complying

          7  with the Pro- Voter law by providing voter

          8  registration forms at the time someone enters and

          9  leaves the corrections and probation systems. This

         10  proposed language would simply clarify and document

         11  this responsibility to assure continued compliance

         12  with the Pro- Voter Law.

         13                 Finally, we fully support the City

         14  Council Resolution No. 19 which urges the New York

         15  State legislature to amend the Election Law to

         16  permit people on parole to vote. We commend the

         17  Council for recognizing the critical role voting

         18  plays in the successful reintegration of people with

         19  criminal records back into our communities. We look

         20  forward to continuing to work with the Council on

         21  this and other important policy initiatives

         22  currently before the State legislature. Thank you

         23  for allowing me to testify and I'm happy to take any

         24  questions you might have.

         25                 MR. CABA: Mr. Chairman, members of
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          2  the Council. Good afternoon. Thank you for holding

          3  this important hearing and providing me with the

          4  opportunity to testify today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Excuse me. Just

          6  let us know who you are and the organization that

          7  you are representing for the record. Everything is

          8  record and obviously history would want to know that

          9  you were here.

         10                 MR. CABA: My name is Socrates Caba

         11  and I am the Coordinator of the Bronx HIV Care

         12  Network and I am also a member of The Unlock the

         13  Block Coalition. I am here to speak in support of

         14  Introduction 1, the amendment to the New York City

         15  Pro- Voter Law, that mandates annual training for

         16  agencies, verbal assistance for public on voter

         17  registration and agency transmission of registration

         18  forms. I will also be testifying in support of the

         19  resolution to restore voting rights to people

         20  currently on parole.

         21                 I am a formerly incarcerated person

         22  and for the past 15 years I have been working and

         23  advocating for prisoners, their families and their

         24  communities. As part of my work with the Bronx HIV

         25  Care Network, our mission is to ensure coordination
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          2  of comprehensive health and social services and to

          3  develop necessary resources which are currently not

          4  available for those infected and affected with HIV

          5  and AIDS. Many of the member agencies of my

          6  organization provide direct services to people

          7  released from prison and to those on probation and

          8  parole.

          9                 As part of my work with Unlock The

         10  Block, I am part of a committee that is trying to

         11  institutionalize voter registration, notification,

         12  and education within service provider organizations

         13  throughout the City. What I have encountered through

         14  my work is a massive amount of misinformation among

         15  formerly incarcerated people and those who provide

         16  services to them about voter eligibility. Many are

         17  under the misperception that in New York State,

         18  people who have been convicted of a felony lose

         19  their right to vote forever. This lack of

         20  information is pervasive and needs to be addressed

         21  in a proactive manner.

         22                 The proposed amendment to the Pro-

         23  Voter Law require that agency staff be trained

         24  annually on voter registration and that verbal

         25  assistance be offered regarding voter registration.
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          2  It is essential that the staff trainings include

          3  information about voting rights of those in New

          4  York's criminal justice system. Such a training will

          5  not only ensure that the staff are offering

          6  effective voter registration services, but will also

          7  help ensure that accurate information is

          8  disseminated regarding voter eligibility.

          9                 These amendments will make City

         10  agencies more responsible and accountable by

         11  providing voter education, notification and

         12  registration to the people they serve. Ensuring that

         13  agency workers are trained on effective voter

         14  registration services and voter eligibility and that

         15  they offer verbal assistance to their clients will

         16  further the efforts to increase the franchise among

         17  the populations that are served by many City

         18  agencies.

         19                 In many instances, it is not

         20  disinterest which prevents formerly incarcerated

         21  individuals from voting; it is the lack of access to

         22  accurate information that prevents formerly

         23  incarcerated people from voting. Therefore, such

         24  training and verbal assistance with the Departments

         25  of Corrections and Probation will greatly help
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          2  dispel the widespread misinformation that exists

          3  regarding voter rights for those who have criminal

          4  convictions.

          5                 In addition to informing those

          6  eligible individuals of their right to vote, we must

          7  also expand our democracy by amending the New York

          8  disenfranchisement statute to restore voting rights

          9  to parolees. Criminal convictions should not be

         10  linked to felony disenfranchisement. The Council

         11  should be commended for acknowledging the vital role

         12  of civic participation and for seeking to dismantle

         13  one more barrier that formerly incarcerated people

         14  face when they reenter society. Individuals who are

         15  currently on parole have rejoined their communities,

         16  yet they continue to be excluded from having a voice

         17  within their community.

         18                 I voted for the first time in 1990's

         19  presidential election. The ability to cast a ballot

         20  after being a voiceless member of the community was

         21  not only rewarding, but was also empowering. Ever

         22  since that experience, I have voted in every local,

         23  state and federal election. Because formerly

         24  incarcerated persons are a stigmatized group in our

         25  society, it is increasing difficult for them to
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          2  rebuilt their lives when they continue to be

          3  relegated to the status of second class citizens.

          4  The Council resolution recognizes the importance of

          5  voting rights for all citizens and seeks to restore

          6  this right to a group of individuals by providing

          7  one more tool in their efforts to reintegrate into

          8  society. To continue to deny parolees the right to

          9  vote is to support a system of taxation without

         10  representation. Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you all

         12  for your eloquence and your very, very important

         13  testimony on how we can improve opportunities to

         14  vote for the citizens of this City and State. I'd

         15  like to acknowledge that the Honorable Philip Reed

         16  has arrived, a member of this Committee. Thank you

         17  for being here. I know that we've left the vote open

         18  so that you can participate. I believe the clerk is

         19  on his way with the appropriate papers. But for the

         20  record, if you'd like to vote aye and then wait.

         21  What would you like to do first? Last but not least.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you

         23  Council Member, Mr. Chair. On Intro 630, I

         24  definitely want to vote aye. I'm pleased to see that

         25  the Administration recognizes a good idea when it
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          2  shows up in front of them. And that we should have

          3  not had to go through a veto on something so

          4  obvious. I'm pleased to be here. We're always asking

          5  people to step up and do the right thing. When we

          6  don't give people the security it makes them feel

          7  like, okay, why did I do the right thing in the

          8  first place. I think that sort of says into the

          9  issue of voting --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And incentive by

         11  the way.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And an

         13  incentive. We don't have the proper history of

         14  voting in this country, let alone in this City. You

         15  see the statistics, the percentages and in some of

         16  our districts, it's even worse. It's in your face

         17  all the time. All too often when I'm campaigning as

         18  well as just trying to get people to participate, I

         19  have people come up to me and say, well I would like

         20  to, but I really can't. You understand. I do

         21  understand. Clearly, you guys understand I'd be

         22  happy to go out the streets and say yes, I

         23  understand, we changed that now. So you can

         24  participate because for some people that's an

         25  opportunity to just completely disengage. Because
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          2  we're giving people the rights, we also need to take

          3  away the excuse.

          4                 I think that what testimony that I

          5  heard while I was trying to make sure I knew what we

          6  were doing while I sit up here. I was with some kids

          7  out at Randall's Island in the swamps. If my shoes

          8  look like they are a little muddy, we were dealing

          9  with some kids in science projects today. Thank you

         10  for your testimony. Thank you, Mr. Chair, for

         11  allowing me to make those brief remarks and I

         12  certainly want to say yes affirmatively to Intro

         13  630.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         15  much. Let me just also say, the value of the

         16  legislation especially in terms of the training,

         17  particularly Intro 1, that calls for the training is

         18  very, very important. Because clearly as was pointed

         19  out by my colleague, Councilman Reed, there is a lot

         20  of ignorance, not simply in terms of those who have

         21  the right to vote, but more importantly in terms of

         22  those who are in positions to inform them that they

         23  have the right to vote. Not only election officials,

         24  which sometimes have a problem with that, but also

         25  those who work in these various agencies.
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          2                 I think the training piece will

          3  address significantly a lot of the concerns about

          4  the Pro- Voter legislation and I'm really anxious to

          5  see how we can begin to get that implemented. I

          6  think there is a whole bunch of folks who want to

          7  participate, who should be participating, but are

          8  ignorant and that ignorance is being perpetrated by

          9  folks who should know better by virtue of their

         10  privilege position of being public servants in one

         11  capacity or another.

         12                 Thank you so much again for your

         13  testimony. We'll stay in touch with you.

         14                 MR. HAYDEN: Thank you very much

         15  Council Member.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Is that it? It

         17  looks this is it unless there is someone who is here

         18  who wanted to testify, but didn't take the

         19  opportunity to fill out a ticket. This hearing as

         20  you know has been focused primarily on improving the

         21  voter opportunities that are available to the

         22  citizens, but in many cases are not always

         23  exercised. We offered Intro 1, the Pro- Voter

         24  legislation that would mandate that our City

         25  agencies take a more proactive approach in terms of
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          2  registrating potential clients or those who come to

          3  those agencies. It would also have a component that

          4  involves training; a very important component, so

          5  that we have a really proactive approach and that we

          6  really live up to the spirit of why the Pro- Voter

          7  legislation was originally created. And all those

          8  other proactive initiatives that were created to

          9  increase the roles to reach out to put government in

         10  a position of feeling some sense of responsibility;

         11  some sense of commitment; some important role in

         12  making sure that the citizens was registered. This

         13  is one thing.

         14                 We also know that there are a lot of

         15  others who are on parole who should be able to vote

         16  and unfortunately laws have to be changed on the

         17  State level to make that happen. We are setting up a

         18  resolution to let them know that from a perspective

         19  of those of us in the City, it's okay. We think that

         20  they should go forward and make that legislation

         21  happen. The Board of Elections will be great if we

         22  can move forward in terms of making sure that for

         23  some reason or another could not vote, even though

         24  through the affidavit process, that they were

         25  properly informed and even if they were entitled to
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          2  vote, that they were properly informed that they

          3  voted on a paper or an affidavit ballot; to avoid

          4  some of the cynicism, some of the criticism that

          5  their votes were stolen, were not counted, without

          6  necessarily understanding exactly why and in fact

          7  being given an opportunity to fix.

          8                 We're hopeful that that legislation

          9  will come in to some agreement and obviously get

         10  passed. Because it's very, very important, there is

         11  a whole bunch of folks whose votes are not being

         12  counted and who walk around the neighborhoods

         13  feeling violated. That's because they don't know why

         14  they were not allowed to vote and even if they were

         15  allowed to vote, they don't even know that they were

         16  allowed to vote. That's important.

         17                 I want to commend my colleague,

         18  Addabbo, for having put that issue before us and I'm

         19  hopeful that we can work something out. With that in

         20  mind, I think we have taken a giant step towards

         21  improving our democracy with these resolutions and

         22  these bills. Therefore, I can now consider this

         23  hearing adjourned.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:55 p.m.)
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